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Foreword 

By Dr Norman C Delaney 

 

 
 

hen Ian Baillie first contacted me through the Internet, little did I realise the bizarre 

consequences that would follow. Dr. Baillie is a teacher and a scientist who has an 
ability to perceive dimensions that most of us are unable to do. He has 

painstakingly researched the life of a long dead Confederate soldier and in essence has 

brought him back to life. The result is this remarkable book. Dr. Baillie asks only that the 

reader remain open minded to the possibility of the transference of subconscious memory 
from one individual to another physical person in another time. If this seems incredible let Dr. 

Baillie the scientist take you on a compelling journey into both the past and the present. As 

for myself, I am delighted to be a part of this amazing story. 
 

After our correspondence began, I was able to furnish Dr. Baillie with information from my 

own research more than 30 years back. During the period 1964 to 1966, I had hand copied a 
great deal of the correspondence of the Kell family of McIntosh County, Georgia while 

working on my doctoral dissertation at Duke University in North Carolina. It turned out that I 

had an abundance of material I never used, but had filed away until contacted by Dr. Baillie. 

Was it a coincidence that eventually brought us in contact? There are times when I wonder. 
 

My own background is historic New England, Lynn, Massachusetts, where I lived during my 

early years. Even as a boy I was intrigued with history and was amazed to learn about the 
events that had taken place in the very area where I lived. History became even more personal 

when I learned that my great-grandfather had served two enlistments as a Yankee soldier 

during the Civil War. Although only a private who never fought in any of the great Civil War 
battles, Lowell Mason became my introduction to the Tragic Era of American history. In 

addition to the pictures I had of him in uniform, I also obtained his enlistment papers and 

even his U.S. army issued Springfield muzzle-loader. While still in high school, I began 

collecting Civil War artifacts, which at that time could be obtained at a very low price. At a 
Marblehead antique shop I purchased two Civil War swords for $5 each, one a decorative 

staff officer's sword and the other an 1840 model cavalry sabre, the so-called "wrist-breaker". 

During the same period, I became a member of the Lynn chapter of the Sons of Union 

W 
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Veterans, the only youth in a group of elderly men, one of whom had served in the Spanish-

American War! At our monthly meetings it was awesome to realise that Lowell Mason had 
once attended his Grand Army of the Republic meetings in the very same hall on Andrew 

Street and that his picture was included among the scores of other members lining the walls. 

 

After graduating from high school, I spent four years at nearby Salem Teachers College, 
determined to become a history teacher. But it wasn't until Graduate School at Boston 

University that I was finally able to take specialised courses in Civil War history. With my 

MA degree I was able to teach history at the college level, but I looked forward to the time 
when I could continue studies for a Ph.D. in history. Although BU and other Northern 

universities remained an option, I finally selected Duke University, in Durham, North 

Carolina. How would the Civil War or rather, the War Between the States, be taught in the 
South? It seemed appropriate that I spend the next few years in the South. 

 

By 1964, following two years in India in the Peace Corps, I was once again at Duke, 

completing most of the required course work. I had not yet selected a dissertation topic, and 
time was running out. My advisor, Dr. Robert H. Woody, who years earlier had produced a 

major work on Reconstruction in South Carolina, was now in his 60's and looking forward to 

his retirement. He was no longer accepting new students to work with as dissertation advisor. 
Dr. Woody's initial suggestion for a topic was the South Carolian writer William Gilmore 

Simms. But after a half-hearted attempt to get interested in the man, I confessed to Dr. Woody 

that I would prefer another subject or personality. To my surprise, my advisor suddenly 
produced a note pad, glanced over it, and responded. "Delaney, are you familiar with the 

ALABAMA? Its captain was Raphael Semmes, and John McIntosh Kell was his executive 

officer. Would you be interested in writing about Kell? We have his papers here at Duke." To 

me those were magic words. YES! I was definitely interested! Later I learned that after Duke 
had acquired the Kell Papers Dr. Woody had himself considered writing a biography. But 

with retirement near, he was having second thoughts and was willing to pass along the project 

to someone else. And there I was. The timing couldn't have been better! 
 

During the following months I became thoroughly immersed in Kell family correspondence. 

There were so many people to become acquainted with besides Kell himself; his wife 

Blanche; his widowed mother, Margery, who had to manage a large plantation following the 
sudden death of her husband; other Kell children: three daughters and a younger brother, 

Alexander Baillie Kell. The correspondence was so extensive that it covered many decades 

before, during, and after the war. I was impressed that indeed the Kells were a remarkable 
family. Central to my study, of course, was John, who served as an officer in the U.S. Navy 

for twenty years. After the secession of Georgia, he resigned his commission and served his 

state as a commander before being called upon to serve under Raphael Semmes as executive 
officer of the commerce raiders SUMTER and ALABAMA. In order to prepare myself, there 

was a great deal that I had to learn about the Old Navy. Herman Melville's WHITE JACKET, 

based on the author's own experience aboard a warship was a good starting point, after which 

came ship's logs and sailor reminiscences. At the same time, for weeks on end I hand copied 
from family letters and journals, eventually travelling to Georgia for additional research and 

meetings with two Kell grandchildren whom had additional material that I needed. My 

dissertation was completed by 1967, the year I received my Ph.D., and later expanded into a 
book, JOHN McINTOSH KELL OF THE RAIDER ALABAMA (University of Alabama Press, 

1973). 

 
 But, enough said from where I am sitting. What has all of this got to do with an English 

gentleman who made contact with me only recently in connection with a Kell family 

member? It is time for Ian Baillie to introduce himself and explain the Matrix and the mystery 

behind Baillie's memories. 
 

        Dr. Norman C. Delaney, Del Mar College, Corpus Christi, Texas. 
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Part One: Accessing the Past 

 
Introduction  

 
On World Book day March 25, 1999 in a Folkestone bookshop situated on the Southern 

English coast, I discovered the photograph of a long dead Confederate soldier. The book 

coincidentally opened at the precise page, the name coincidentally was my name and the 

face coincidentally was my face, it was all far too much of a coincidence to be a 

coincidence! 

 

 
 

azing into the looking glass of time I spied a familiar reflection; for I recognised the 
person in the picture. Incredibly he appeared to be me, me as I was 138 years ago in 

another time and another place. Then over the next two years with research and the 

use of emotional memory painting, the whole story unfolded in vivid emotional Technicolor. I 

had always felt that I did not belong in this time or place, a common feeling that many of us 
often have. This confusion of identity had reigned supreme in my life for 44 years, but now 

all that had changed. 

With the discovery of the photograph and its associated story nothing in my life would ever 
be the same again. Suddenly all became clear, I had been right all along, my feelings and 

emotions had not betrayed me.  I realised then, that this odyssey of understanding had begun 

some 35 years ago, when in the playground as a small 10 old I spied something familiar; the 
bright pristine images of a long forgotten war that happened then a century ago. 

The year was 1964 and the conflict of a hundred years previous was that of the American 

Civil War. Coincidentally it was exactly 100 years to the day that a Private soldier named 

Alexander Baillie Kell, was fighting desperately in the ranks of the 5th Georgia Cavalry, as 
the epic Battle for Atlanta was about to reach its horrifying summer climax. The Civil War 

was to redefine the destiny of America and with it shape the major events of World history up 

until the present day.  For we are still living with the reverberating aftershocks of the 
emotional trauma of that titanic conflagration. Little was I to know then that I myself might 

be one of those reverberating aftershocks, fall out from the bloodiest war in American history. 

G 
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The craze that summer of 1964 in the playground was for commemorative centennial bubble 
gum cards and Confederate money, issued by a company called simply AB&C. The bright red 

three-penny waxed packets held the promise of two or three cards, some Confederate dollar 

bills and a flat stick of pink sweet scented bubble gum.  Most of my contemporaries avidly 

collected and traded the money, but for me though, it was the cards that were important, those 
terrible bloody images held a haunting fascination as if rekindling a long lost forgotten 

memory that dwelt deep in my psyche.  

 
         
In mute testament to their power I still have those precious icons, all these years later. In the 

end I collected two and a half sets of the 88 cards. I read and re-read the Civil War News on 

the backs of the cards, all the names, events and characters seemed some how very familiar. 
As 1964 came to a close, interest waned with my contemporaries and I scooped up the surplus 

dollar bills, often simply swapping them for sweets. I studied and learned the details of the 

war, the place names, battles and Generals with their many victories and gory defeats. 

My attention had been captured, I had gathered the familiar to me and I had unknowingly 

found the key to my inner being. Spurred on by a hitherto unknown fervour I hurriedly began 

saving my pocket money and rushed headlong to the shops each Saturday. I bought up little 

boxes of plastic soldiers, with which to recreate the scenes of long lost carnage. Sundays were 
spent in the front room playing with my new acquisitions. Old battles where re-contested with 

vigour and elan, old scores were settled and history rewritten. I had discovered the art of war 

games. 
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The armies got bigger and the soldiers increased from 20 millimetre to the larger more 

gratifying 54 millimetre scale, but this was still not enough. War gaming as a lone pursuit was 
interesting, but far from satisfying, I needed a compatriot in arms. A friend was found, a one 

Dave Pilcher, a tall lanky red headed lad that looked in lean build every inch a Confederate 

veteran. He introduced me to the Confederate High Command a newly formed re-enactment 

group. This was an astonishing discovery, I had found that there were others like me! I was 
not alone in my passionate feelings for this historical conflict. So at the tender age of twelve I 

proudly enlisted in the 43
rd
 Battalion Virginia Cavalry, Mosbyôs Rangers - the legendary Gray 

Ghosts. Yet coincidentally it was the Confederate cavalry, absolutely perfect!  For me it had 
to be the cavalry, the yellow facings, the grey uniforms and the horses; specifically nothing 

else would do. 

 

Many letters were written, figures painted and artefacts gathered. The collection grew and 

grew taking over my whole room as it became more than just another hobby. Barry Chalkley 
(middle color photograph), a guy that I knew just from a photo, was the Commander of the 

romantically entitled, Virginia Brigade, made up of the 1st Virginia Cavalry, 43
rd
 Battalion 

Virginia Cavalry and the Stuart Horse Artillery.  Pat Stanton an ex-paratrooper with cape) and 
the Sergeant Major of the 43

rd
 was a young solicitor I befriended by the name of John Cullis 

(with shotgun). I even persuaded my somewhat bemused mother and father to allow him to 

visit on several occasions. I was in awe of John as he donned his uniform, correct in every 

detail. The boots were hand made and designed from a pair worn by General George 
Armstrong Custer from an old photograph. Pride of place however went to his flag, the 
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Confederate Stars and Bars; it had cost the princely sum of £24.00, which was an absolute 

fortune in those days! But I thought it was worth every penny as I saw it fluttering gaily in the 
breeze. I was so impressed that despite not being able to sow I set about making my own copy 

of it much to my father's amazement. Fortunately for posterity John left a permanent record of 

the events for archival evidence, as he owned an expensive colour Polaroid camera. 

  
One sunny day 1968, at an Easter Civil War camp in Dargateôs Wood, Chatham, I donned his 
uniform over my home dyed sky blue trousers, and posed for a memorable prophetic picture. 

A picture that I shall forever treasure during this lifetime: Baillie the Confederate cavalryman 

breathed again! The smell of the campfire, the sleeping in the open, the camaraderie all 
seemed so familiar. I went home intoxicated by the experience and started to make my own 

uniforms and equipment. With little money I enlisted the help of my school friends and 

together we tramped the woodlands of Kent, building fortified camps, especially in the area 

known as Blean woods just north of Canterbury. After a year I managed to persuade my 
colleagues to help make a Civil War film. For this I built a full size working field gun. I had 

already completed a working musket, which actually fired, but the cannon would be even 

more spectacular in the film. It was in my back garden at this time, that I commissioned my 
Canadian friend Gordon Whyte as a 2

nd
 Lieutenant in the Confederate Cavalry. Once again all 

captured on photographs taken at the time, thank goodness. He was the most enthusiastic of 

my friends and was about to leave for boarding school in Hastings. I wanted him to carry a 

permanent reminder of our adventures and so in an intense.  

The smell of the campfire, the sleeping in the open, the camaraderie all seemed so familiar. I 

went home intoxicated by the experience and started to make my own uniforms and 

equipment. With little money I enlisted the help of my school friends and together we 
tramped the woodlands of Kent, having adventures and building fortified camps, especially in 

an area known as Blean woods just north of Canterbury. After a year I managed to persuade 

my fellow classmates to make a Civil War film, for which, I built a full size working field 
gun. I had already built a working musket with bayonet in my wood and metal work classes at 

school, but the cannon would look even more spectacular in the film.  
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Coincidentally it was in my back garden at this time, that I commissioned my Canadian friend 

Gordon Whyte as a 2
nd

 Lieutenant in the Confederate Cavalry, this can be seen captured on 
the photographs taken at the time. He was the most enthusiastic of my friends and was about 

to leave for boarding school in Hastings. I wanted him to carry a permanent reminder of our 

adventures and so in an intense emotional state I wrote out the commission in cursive script, 

signed it and sealed it with bright red wax. It was then presented in a formal ceremony; I 
played the part of the Colonel commanding the regiment and Gordon, as we now know 

became in essence Baillie. At the time I had no conscious knowledge that I had just re-

enacted and corrected the most crucial episode of Baillie's tragic past. The commission was 
everything to him and if it had come to pass then all would have been so very different.  

 

When completed the cannon was test fired using a Sodium IV Chlorate weed killer and sugar 

mixture most gratifyingly the barrel belched forth a ten foot long yellow flame towards the 
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unsuspecting neighbours for some considerable time! In later years my father confided that 

this moment, was one of his most vivid memories of me. Whilst reading the paper after a hard 
morning at work, the whole of the lounge lit up bright yellow. Springing to his feet he looked 

out the window to see the cannon in action with his son proudly looking on. 

Sodium IV Chlorate played a large part in my life as I diversified into rocketry for my school 

science project. The space race of the 60's had fired the imagination of the planet's youth and I 
was an ardent practising disciple of the technology. It was also at about this time that I found 

quite by chance that I had a natural affinity for horses. Specifically that I knew exactly how to 

ride, without ever having had a single lesson. By comparison later my motorbike although fun 
seemed cold, tame and soul less compared to the mystic bond between a horse and its rider. 

 

Gradually all these childhood antics faded from memory as normal life took over. I 

graduated, married and became a teacher of Science. Later I gained promotion, had a near 

brush with death and became deeply interested in Physics. Yet all the while the Confederate 

cavalryman within hovered, waiting silently in the background, until the glorious moment I 
stepped into Waterstoneôs Bookshop, Folkestone, coincidentally on World Book Day. My ten 

year old daughter Harriet was absorbed in looking for an Agatha Christie novel, when 

somehow in a moment of serendipity I was attracted to a book containing Civil War 

photographs, Private Soldiers and Public Heroes. With an air of casual apprehension I 

opened the book; there to my incredulous amazement was the name Baillie.  
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I had spent 35 years vainly looking in hope of finding some small connection or link to do 

with my name and the Civil War. Yet here was also a photograph! Strangely I had always had 
a reoccurring premonition that I might one day find myself in an old Civil war photograph, 

now it had actually come true. But this was far beyond my expectations, a single full-face 

portrait and a biography. Being prudent and entirely out of character, I shut the book and left 

the shop not wishing to purchase a whole book for just one photograph. Over the next few 
days the creeping realisation that this was more than just a coincidence drew me back to the 

shop. I finally purchased the book and then on closer inspection realised just how exactly the 

physical features of Baillie looked like my own, an exact mirror image. It was astonishing, it 
felt electrifying, as if I had just won the lottery several times over; the chances of finding the 

photo were incalculable. Yet it was real! I hurried home and not knowing how to break the 

news to my wife Pauline, I nonchalantly commented whilst watching the 6 o'clock news, ñOh 
by the way, have you seen this?ò  

My normally dear ever-sceptical wife upon viewing the image exclaimed instantly, ñThatôs 

you! Do you think that it is you?ò 

ñNo, I'm not really sure?ò I replied in a faltering voice, not wishing to upset her. Then as I 
read and re-read the brief personal history of Baillie penned by the article's author Dr Norman 

C Delaney, I realised that it was a concise outline description of my own personality, 

character and interests. In a combined moment of euphoric revelation I was acutely aware that 
all my formulated theories, models and ideas as to how the Universe was constructed had just 

become very close up and personal. 

With that realisation the penny finally dropped, I gazed at the face with its mirror like 

reflection a positive reversal and I welcomed home Baillie. Reunited with my past I accepted 
the joyous fact that his history was my history and that his life defined my life. His life and 

experiences delineated my entire being, explaining exactly who and what I am. The research 

on my other self continued, increased in magnitude and depth, culminating in the triumphal 
accessing of my subconscious memory through the interaction with a dear colleague and the 

production of many artworks based on what I now term, emotional painting. 

This book is the product of the search for my inner self and the understanding of my place in 
the Universe. It is a unique record of the journey of two lifetimes, which shows that our 
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greatest human anxiety, physical mortality, no longer needs to be feared. It conclusively 

demonstrates that our journey continues, for it may be argued that if our memories survive 
then so in essence do we.  

It is the purpose of this book therefore to illustrate that we all continue to evolve and progress. 

For our core being does not dissipate on death. Our character, personality and emotional 

memory remain intact to continue another earthly journey. Many faiths embrace this idea, but 
lack the all-important scientific evidence. I have found that evidence. I am the case study and 

this work, will I hope lead to a do-it-yourself planetary revolution in thought,  that for many is 

long over due 

We stand poised on the brink of a new era of understanding, a revolution of the mind, the 

discovery of who and what we are. The time is now and the paradigms of dogma are 

evaporating in the daylight of a new reality. And so I present to you my magnum opus: Rebel 
Spirité..evidence for the continuity of consciousness 

This scientific discovery with its associated emotional story is a complete record of one of 

the most important experiments ever undertaken. 

 

Dr Ian C Baillie June 4, 2001 coincidentally my 47
th
 birthday! 

 

 

            Alexander Baillie Kell 1901 
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Chapter One 

Baillie 

 
"We have shared the incommunicable experience of war. We have felt; we still feel the 

passion of life to its top. In our youths our hearts were touched with fire." 

                                                                                                       Oliver Wendell Holmes 

 
n order to fully understand the complex synchronicity of events that has paralleled my life 

with those of Baillie's life it may be advantageous to familiarise ourselves with the life 

and times of Alexander Baillie Kell, known by all simply as Baillie. 

 
He was born February 23, 1828 at Laurel Grove, Darien, Georgia, the youngest of the six Kell 

children. His father John Kell 1784-1827 had died on November 10, 1827, just after his 

conception, so Baillie never knew him. His Mother Margery Spalding Baillie 1794-1870 and 
his older sisters brought him up at the family home. The six Kell children were as follows: 

 

Mary Jane, born March 12, 1817- May 11, 1891. Never married 
Sarah Spalding, born September 22, 1818. Died December 15, 1819 

Evelyn West, born August 17, 1820- August 17, 1891. Married Charles Spalding, January 

17, 1808- February 4, 1887, of Sapelo Island 

John McIntosh, born January 26, 1823- October 5, 1900. United States Navy Commander and 
Confederate naval hero married Julia Blanche Munroe, January 31, 1836- June 14, 1917. 

Hester Margery, born August 14, 1825- July 7,1898. Never married 

Alexander Baillie, born February 23, 1828- September 30,1912. 
 

John Kell had previously been married to a Barbara McIver, in 1808, but she died three years 

later and there were no children form this union. In 1816 he married Margery Spalding 

Baillie, daughter of Alexander and Hester Jane McIntosh Baillie. John Kell was a successful 
lawyer and rose to be a Superior Court Judge. He founded and purchased Laurel Grove 

plantation as the family home in Darien, McIntosh County. 

 
Women surrounded Baillie from the outset; but with his brother the two young boys would 

have many Mark Twain adventures among the reeds and sea-islands of the Georgia coast in 

the halcyon days of youth. News of the Alamo in 1836 would have stirred the latent Scottish 
values of freedom, honour and duty within the two boys' hearts as William Barrett Travis' 

immortal words echoed around the world. Yet all too soon his older brother John had left to 

be a midshipman aboard a navy vessel. He had escaped the petticoat regime of antebellum 

plantation life by pursuing a successful career with the United States Navy. John became a 
Naval Lieutenant in his own right and gained some recognition by sailing with Commodore 

Perry to Japan in 1853. The sea ever present at Darien ran strong in the blood of the Kells and 

John, his Mother's favourite son, followed his maritime instincts to the full. 
  

Baillie, being the youngest was brought up in a more polite, sensitive, caring environment and 

became well educated, attending Princeton, then the College of New Jersey (1848-1851) and 
the Kentucky Military Institute (1851-1852). This was paid for by his brother John, who was 

determined that Baillie should have the very best education he could provide. At the time, 

Baillie did not know that his brother had funded his education, as he was kept unawares by 

his proud mother and other family members. At Princeton Baillie embarked in 1848 on a 
three year Civil Engineering course. He enjoyed the student high life to the full and was 

indeed suspended for, throwing fireballs in the entry to North College, October 22, 1849. 

 

I 
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He joined the Clio debating fraternity and engaged in the many diverse activities on offer, it 

appears that he was not as serious or studious as his elder brother, neither did he have his 
responsibilities as eldest son. His roommate at Princeton is recorded as being a one E. B. 

Showell. It is possible that he played football for Clio as Princeton records show that inter-

fraternity football was in progress during these years. As Princeton did not offer a degree in 

Civil Engineering until 1888, Baillie had to complete his degree studies else where, and ended 
up at the Kentucky Military Institute. The syllabus was demanding and included, 

Mathematics, Natural Sciences, Modern and Ancient Languages among many other subjects. 

Baillie graduated with a Bachelor of Arts in 1852, fifth in his class of eight, finding the 
intense mathematics difficult and not the pursuit of a gentleman. He was now an 

accomplished young man of 24 and documents described him as a high toned gentleman. He 

returned to the family estate and took over the running of the plantation from his hard-pressed 
mother. The Kell's owned eighty Negro slaves at Laurel Grove, planted rice, sea-island 

variety cotton and corn. The estate was never large or economic and the Negroes were treated 

more as an extended family. They often took advantage of Baillie's good nature, for they were 

his childhood friends and Baillie was not a harsh taskmaster. 
 

After the demise of their father in 1851, the two sons of Thomas Spalding of Sapelo, Charles 

and Randolph began to throw high society balls and other diverse entertainments at the Big 
House, South End, Sapelo Island. Randolph in particular liked to party in the grand style, with 

Charles his elder more staid brother being ever the more cautious soul, yet both had cut free 

with from the rigour of their father's rigid puritanical regime. Randolph converted the big 
house into a palace of splendour and delight; filled with every form of sophistication that 

civilisation could offer. Boat and horse racing were favourite past-times of the Southern elite 

and races were held often and for large wagers. It was here that Baillie fraternised with free 

spirited and exotic characters such as William Brailsford. For he had wandered into a magical 
world of antebellum decadence, which he quickly learned to enjoy to full. Fortuitously his 

eldest sister Evelyn West Kell had married Charles Spalding and therefore he was naturally 

invited as family, to attend, despite not having the monetary means of his wealthy peers. So 
Baillie as a member of polite society with his two unmarried sisters, Mary and Hettie in tow, 

accompanied by their chaperone and revered mother, were frequent guests to the island 

festivities. 

 
Travel was by boat and the expectant party would navigate from Kell Landing adjacent the 

plantation, down the creek past Fort King George and into the mainstream of the mighty 

Altamaha River. Thence they would sail across Doboy sound, towards the distinctive 
landmark of Sapelo lighthouse, ever blinking in the distance. Baillie at the tiller and the 

plantation Negroes rowing strongly at the oars, once into the sound the sail could be unfurled 

and a favourable wind might waft the party towards the shores of Sapelo, the enchanted isle. 
Upon nearing, the party would enter the creek leading to the landing at the big house. There to 

be greeted by servants bearing lighted torches dressed in full regalia, music laughter and 

revelry tinkling through the air from the open doors of the Big House; this was the majestic 

civilisation of the Old South at its epoch. 
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It was here and in this atmosphere that Baillie first set eyes on the Princess of Sapelo, Sarah 

Elizabeth Spalding (1844-1916), oldest and only daughter of Randolph and Mary Spalding. 
By 1859 Sallie as she was known, grew to be every man's dream, blonde, petite, aristocratic, 

artistic and intelligent; the jewel in the Spalding crown. As she became of age Baillie fell 

completely and hopelessly in love with her. She was a frequent visitor to the Grove and a 

constant companion of Baillie's favourite sister Hettie who taught the gentle arts. They loved 
to paint and draw, play music and engage in girlish pleasures. Baillie attended on them and in 

time Sallie and Baillie came to have feelings for each other. 

This made Baillie determined to be his own man and strike out away from the family home to 
demonstrate that he could support and look after his princess in the manner to which she had 

been accustomed. It was with this in mind that Baillie persuaded his brother and mother to 

purchase another plantation: 

 
"Baillie ever enthusiastic attempted to build on the family fortune and purchased more land to 

develop at Rushlands just to the North of Darien alongside the old Savannah stage road near 

present day Eulonia. In 1859 his brother John back from the sea found him optimistic over 
the first crop of sea-island cotton on the new land." 

 

This euphoria did not last however, as the spectre of secession loomed black on the horizon. 
Major national events now unfurled and the two lovers were cast upon a turbulent and stormy 

sea. 

 

Election fever swept the land in 1860 and the South knew that if Abraham Lincoln, the lawyer 
from Illinois, was elected they would have to secede from the Union, as the time for 

compromised was well and truly past. Yet in truth they had only to change to a wage 

economy in order to avert war. Despite two thirds of all Southerners not owning Slaves, the 
issue became entrenched as one of maintaining the wealth and opulent life style of an agrarian 

way of life. For the great plantation family's wealth was bound up inextricably in their work 

force. States rights became the watchword and with the Nation a divided military camp the 
dam had to burst, just as luck would have it, when Baillie's own plans were coming to 

fruition.  
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Caught up in the jingoistic military fervour of 1861, Baillie a gentleman and natural horseman 

joined the local McIntosh Light Dragoons as a 3
rd
 Lieutenant. In a somewhat cavalier and 

picnic air, gallant home spun uniforms and high manners were the order of the day as the 

dashing troops reviewed in front of the town ladies. Those ladies most certainly included the 

beautiful blonde seventeen year old, Sarah Elizabeth Spalding. It was at this time that Baillie 
sat for the portrait that we see today, proudly displaying his 3

rd
 Lieutenant's Officers bars 

denoting his class and status for his young lady. Upon studying the eyes and face one can 

perceive his hopeless devotion and undying love for the object of his affections; the 

photograph was without doubt especially commissioned for none other than Sarah Elizabeth 
Sallie Spalding, the Princess of Sapelo. It was also in Baillie's mind a very practical gesture, 

for it would help young Sallie to remember her beau sabeur, whilst he was away discharging 

his duty, lest she forget him in the testing time that was to come. 
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 The test came soon enough, the Yankees set too with a will to blockade the Southern coast, 

thereby putting Darien and the Georgia tidewater squarely in the front line. The vigilant local 

cavalry militia patrolled the coast and skirmished against the ever-increasing tide of naval 

raiding parties. After his initial six month enlistment, Baillie was faced with a dilemma; 
should he try to be an officer in the Infantry or seek some other lesser position in arm 

blanche; the Cavalry? Being on patrol, close to Sallie and not on some forsaken battlefield far 

from home seemed to be the better option to the thoughtful Baillie. One can only guess now 
at the possible outcomes of this fateful decision. His military training at the Kentucky 

Mi litary Institute meant that he could have been an officer from the outset in the Infantry, but 

he felt that the glamour and elan of the Cavalry was more suited to his status as a Southern 

Gentleman. In the event, a concern for his properties, the excitement of horses and the real 
love in his life, Sallie made the decision for him. Alexander Campbell Wylly, one of Sallie's 

many relations became a Lieutenant in the newly reorganised cavalry, which blocked Baillie's 

possible position among the Officer class. Finally decision made he enlisted as a private 
soldier in May 1862 with another of Sallie's Uncles, Captain William Brailsford's, in the 

Lamar Rangers at Sutherland Bluff, this was the site of the Brailsford plantation and became 

the area headquarters for Confederate forces. As the war intensified the Rangers later 
mustered in as Company H, 5

th
 Georgia Volunteer Cavalry CSA in December 1862. Although 

it meant being a private soldier, Baillie hoped to gain rapid promotion in the field through his 

gallant actions, intelligence and social position. Indeed with the charismatic if somewhat hot 

headed Captain Brailsford life would be far from dull. He had also escaped the command of 
his less than adventurous, monetary orientated brother-in-law Colonel Charles Spalding, who 

despite having attended West Point and a fellow class mate of the Confederate President 

Jefferson Davis no less, declined to take a more active role in the war. Charles, upon the death 
by pneumonia caused through alcoholism of Sallie's father, Randolph in May 1862, had 

resigned his commission as Colonel of the 1
st
 Battalion Georgia Cavalry to concentrate on 

preserving the family's wealth and power. He decided to act swiftly and assumed over all 
control of the entire Spalding Negro workforce. He then marched them all to a retreat 

plantation near Quitman, on the Florida border, well away from the Yankee coastal forces.  
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Throughout 1862 the Rangers were engaged on the patrol and skirmish front around McIntosh 
County and up to Savannah often hunting down run away contrabands and returning then to 

their owners. In one such incident a number of such were killed on Sapelo in a firefight. The 

Captain later justified this action stating that the Negroes had been found in arms against the 
white man. For this a reprisal gunboat attack was launched against Captain Brailsford's 

plantation on Sutherland Bluff. The Rangers made a determined effort with their carbines at 

repelling the infantry, but the shelling took its toll on the plantation and the war entered a new 

and more ugly phase, culminating in the burning of Darien.  
 

The war moved swiftly on and the New Year of 1863 saw the newly formed and reorganised 

5
th
 Georgia Volunteer Cavalry headed for Savannah and with them Baillie marched into 

history. 
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The hand-written letter requesting that Private Alexander Baillie Kell be promoted to second 

Lieutenant in the 5th Georgia volunteer cavalry, CSA. Signed by Marse Bob, Colonel Robert 
H Anderson Colonel Commanding. Baillieôs fate hinged on the two words ñDrill Masterò, had 

the words been more forceful or relevant he may well have received his promotion and 

history would have been changed.  
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The letter was counter signed by none other than General P G T Beauregard, Officer 

Commanding the Department of South Carolina and Georgia. As can be seen Richmond took 
a pretty dim view of the idea that a regiment needed a Drill Master at this late stage of the 

war.  

 

Whilst on duty near Savannah at camp Davant in August 1863, Baillie was finally 
recommended for promotion to 2

nd
 Lieutenant by Colonel Robert H Anderson, affectionately 

known to the men as Marse Bob. His qualities as a gentleman and potential officer had finally 

been recognised, surely with the counter signature of General P.G.T. Beauregard, he would 
get the long awaited promotion that he desperately required too win Sallie's hand in marriage? 

However, due to the exceptional calibre of soldier drawn to the cavalry and low mortality rate 

of the Officer class, Baillie's plans went awry. The war had developed to a stage when fancy 
notions of promotion became meaningless among the massed carnage and destruction being 

wrought across the land. It would, despite the recommendations of his senior Officers never 

happen. Two small words in the Colonel's letter stood in the way, drill master (sic), the last 

thing wanted after the combined loss of Gettysburg and Vicksburg in 1863, was a drill 
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master! Anything but those two fateful words, may have secured Baillie his promotion and 

with it, his blonde princess Sarah Elizabeth Sallie Spalding. 
Richmond's refusal dashed all hope for the present time. This for Baillie was the crucial 

turning point in his fortunes, which mirrored that of the Confederacy itself. For at Gettysburg 

in Pennsylvania and Vicksburg on the Mississippi the tide of the war had turned and the sun 

had begun to set on the fledgling Confederacy 
 

 Everything had all been decided in the events of that fateful summer and Baillie's fate would 

be a fractal image of the Confederacy's. 
 

Come the autumn the 5
th
 Georgia Volunteer Cavalry marched into South Carolina to defend 

the railroads around Charleston. The campaigns came thick and fast and the fighting grew 
ever more bloody as the high hopes of 1863 turned into the attrition and waste of 1864, with 

the epic campaign for Atlanta. In February 1864 the unit was ordered to Florida in time for 

the Battle of Olustee. Whilst on its way back to Savannah the regiment was diverted to join 

the intensifying firestorm of fighting that was raging in front of and around Atlanta. Baillie 
wrote several letters to Blanche his sister-in-law at this time, the letters have survived and are 

reproduced in this volume. She despite losing two of her dear little children to diphtheria 

offered to nurse Baillie in the event of him becoming wounded at Kennesaw Mountain.  
Somehow miraculously Baillie managed to avoid injury, death or capture. Mid summer the 

cavalry units were detached with Fightin' Joe Wheeler for a raid into Tennessee. It was here 

that Yankee cavalry at Murfreesboro captured Captain William Brailsford in October 1864. 
The ambush happened as some men from Company H with lame and unshod horses were out 

with the Cap foraging. The detached unit was left behind in Tennessee, whilst waiting for a 

sympathetic blacksmith to shoe the horses. They were suddenly surprised, bushwhacked by 

the Yankee cavalry and all but a lucky few escaped the trap. Baillie with a sound horse and 
with the main regimental party had narrowly avoided life in a prison camp. Alexander 

Campbell Wylly assumed command of the troop and would later with his brother William, 

become a life long friend of Baillie's. The war dragged relentlessly on and Baillie still 
thinking of Sallie, had only a tattered picture to remind him of the high times before the war. 

Despite heroic acts of valour, attrition was setting in. Baillie and the 5
th
 continued to give it 

their best shot along with the other boys' in gray, but the Yankees now, just kept on coming, 

an endless tide of blue. 
 

November 1864, Atlanta had fallen and the 5
th
 Georgia along with the rest of Joe Wheeler's 

remaining cavalry were ordered at all costs to attempt to halt Sherman's juggernaut of sixty 
thousand men. They had cut loose from their lines in Atlanta and were now headed towards 

Savannah and the sea. Sherman had vowed to make Georgia howl and it was up to Wheeler's 

three thousand troopers to limit the damage. This they did to some measure, but Savannah fell 
in time for Sherman to present the city to Lincoln as a Christmas present.  
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In the New Year, Sherman's jubilant army set out upon their march through the Carolina's. 

The devastation wrought there was far greater than anything Georgia had experienced. The 
Union soldiers blamed South Carolina for starting the whole darn war and were determined to 

wreak havoc in revenge. The 5
th
 still fighting to last round knew it was a hopeless cause, there 

were just too many Yankees with overwhelming resources.  So many in fact, that the boys just 

couldn't load fast enough to shoot them all! Finally Baillie, along with the remnants of the 5
th
 

Georgia Volunteer Cavalry surrendered in good order on April 26
th
 1865 at Hillsboro, North 

Carolina. A sad and bitter day all hope for an independent South was gone and a dejected 

Baillie, paroled on May 3
rd 

1865 headed home. 
 

Darien had been raised to the ground in June 1863; this infamous act of barbarism was 

captured in the film Glory. Laurel Grove escaped the burning, but was a shell. A local white 
man had run off with all the furniture during the war and all was in total disrepair. Baillie still 

fostered hopes of marrying his true love Sallie and after talking with the Yankee soldiers on 

the Ridge, set too to farm the land again. He hired freedmen and oxen with which to plough 

the land; he started to rebuild that summer and tried to get a crop in. He also found himself 
responsible for the women folk, his Mother and two unmarried sisters. But then came the 

mortal blow; Sallie was to marry another! 

How cruel could fate be and destiny an even harsher mistress for poor Baillie?  Mary Bass 
Spalding, Sallie's mother had found another more eligible suitor for her daughter. This had 

occurred during the war whilst the family were away at Milledgeville, the old State Capital in 

Baldwin County. Archibald Carlisle McKinley 1
st
 Lieutenant of the 57

th
 Georgia Infantry was 

deemed by Mary capable of bringing financial stability to the marriage in these uncertain 
times. 

Poor Baillie was no longer a suitable match for he had lost his wealth, Laurel Grove and 

Rushlands were in ruins. He was not an Officer and McKinley was the younger man, being 
only one year older than Sallie. The Kell's land was now relatively worthless in McIntosh 

County due to Special Order #15 and so his world fell apart. This single blow inflicted more 

damage than any Yankee bullet or bloody battlefield could ever have done in the entire war. 
The lone warrior had lost his princess and as he stood and gazed distraught with grief towards 

Sapelo's now dimmed lighthouse, he reflected on what might have been. In 1866 as he 

watched his beloved Sallie walk down the aisle to be married to another man, he knew that he 

would never be able to remain in Darien. 
  

His heart broken he had lost the will to survive, he tried renting out Rushlands to his former 

slaves now freedmen, but this did not work. There was a total lack of money in the South, all 
remained chaos and destitution. General Sherman's Special Field Order #15 giving the coastal 
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land to the former Negro slaves meant that there was no living to be had in Darien. His sister 

Mary in a letter to John seriously doubted his capacity to run a plantation. Baillie was 
mentally shattered and so in 1867 he sought refuge with his brother at Sunnyside, near Griffin 

in Spalding County. Baillie now lived with John and Blanche at Rocky Knoll alongside the 

old Atlanta road and railroad track. The childless Varner's had given the land to their 

favourite niece Blanche, in the hope that she would come to live by them as company in their 
old age. 

John contented himself with simple farming and it was here that the Kell's mother Margery, 

now living with friends died amongst her kinfolk in 1870. Whilst he pondered his next moves 
now aged 40 and just when life seemed to have abandoned him, Baillie fortuitously met an 

attractive Irish girl. 

 
Mary Sullivan the eldest daughter of Patrick Sullivan an immigrant farmer lived with the 

Varner's as a housekeeper in close proximity to the Kell farm at Rocky Knoll. Mary also 

seemed greatly disturbed by her Father's marriage to a younger woman, which occurred upon 

the death of her mother, Easter. The new stepmother also named Mary caused problems, so 
Mary Sullivan had taken up the position at the Varner's old place next to Rocky Knoll.  

Baillie struck up a relationship with her, he on his horse with tales of daring do and she the 

young farm girl turned housekeeper, they fell in love spurred on by the stirring jigs and reels 
that were the hallmark of Irish Gaelic culture in Georgia. Baillie was in his natural element 

for he played the guitar, violin and always loved a good singsong.  Baillie's fortunes seemed 

somewhat restored, he was now managing the Varner's farm with woodlands after the death 
of aged Hendley Varner in 1868 and in 1870, on Mary's eighteenth birthday they became 

engaged. This however, was not a popular decision with the family. They considered the 

Sullivan's not their class so again poor Baillie's relationship was doomed from the start. Fate 

then stripped Baillie of what little security he had tenuously built. Childless Old Aunty died 
and left the Varner estate to her favourite niece Julia Blanche Munroe Kell. Mary and Baillie's 

world then fell apart due to the settlement of the Varner's will, with Blanche gaining the 

estate. Her sister Hattie was not pleased and attempted to break the will and Mary had to 
leave as the home was now broken up. On a bright December morning in 1871, as she 

boarded the northbound steam locomotive for Atlanta at Griffin station, Baillie and Mary 

shared an emotional farewell. Baillie without money and Mary without a home the couple had 

to split up. Mary became a music teacher in the city and Baillie was once more cast upon his 
brother's charity, a lonely and increasingly bitter fellow. 

 
This bitterness was further exacerbated by the loss of his favourite niece Lil' May, Margery 

Baillie Kell aged seven in 1873. She had been named after him and Baillie had taken a great 
interest in watching her grow up after losing the two women that he loved. He desperately 

tried to rationalise the loss of May without success. Infant mortality through disease caused 
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many deaths at that time and this terrible event made great impression on Baillie's emotional 

nature. Death and trauma in battle through choice could be rationalised, but never the taking 
of such a sweet and innocent child's life by an unseen enemy. Greatly perturbed Baillie began 

to search for answers and became even more intensely interested in Religion and the Church  

 

In 1876, Baillie then went to work on the railroad and the Kells continued their struggle to 
survive. John as a quiet farmer raising a second family, only young Johnnie had survived 

from the first three children that Blanche had been blessed with. He would go to Medical 

school, qualify as a Doctor, but be tragically struck down with tuberculosis aged 24. The 
disease was rife due to the lack of medicines, poor diet and living conditions. One of Griffin's 

most famous sons to die of this condition was none other than Doc Holliday, the gun-fighting 

dentist. 
 

 Finally in 1886, John McIntosh Kell, Baillie's brother, having performed great and legendary 

war service aboard the CSS Alabama, had the good fortune to be asked by General John B 

Gordon's administration to become State Adjutant General for Georgia. This post in public 
life gave John the financial stability he needed to bring up his now large family. John held 

this prestigious office until he passed away in 1900 being buried with full military honours 

and a special funeral train with escort. Baillie worked for a time on the Rome Carrolton 
Railroad as a civil engineer, which amalgamated with the Central Railroad of Georgia. Baillie 

had great respect for its President, E. Porter Alexander. This fine gentleman had commanded 

General Robert E. Lee's artillery in the Army of the Northern Virginia and of all things Baillie 
had a passion for cannons. From his railroad base at Americus, south of Griffin Baillie 

struggled to make a living. Ever unsure of which way to turn or what to do, instability ruled 

his life. All hope of romance having now faded, the only time that he found relief from his 

condition was when he was diverted by games and music with the young folks in John's ever 
expanding family. Uncle Baillie was to be his station in life, yet even then all did not run 

smoothly. He argued and fell out with his brother in 1888 aged 60, the reason most certainly 

was over finance, John's success and wanting to move back to Rocky Knoll due to his 
deteriorating health. In short John had everything Baillie didn't have. But the large family 

now had no room for him and so he struggled on. He lived to regret this rift with his brother 

and never made amends before John died. 

 
Supported only by the charity of his friends and without means, in 1899 aged 71, he 

petitioned for a State disability pension claiming paralysed feet and rheumatism prevented 

him from working. He had the support of his long-term friends Alexander Campbell and 
William Cook Wylly despite all that had transpired in Baillie's fortunes, adversity and a 

common foe made for strong bonds of comradeship. Now receiving a small pension, Blanche 

took him in and he came to live at Rocky Knoll; Uncle Baillie had returned. 
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In 1901 he helped to found the John McIntosh Kell Camp #1032 of United Confederate 

Veterans with sponsorship from the United Daughters of the Confederacy in McIntosh 

County. Spurred on to honour his brother's memory and perhaps to atone for the argument, he 
became a major figure in this movement. He attended every event and it is in this role that we 

see him in the second photograph, the story etched into every line of his face. His proud 

bearing still undefeated his old adversaries now a distant memory. Ironically frozen in this 
moment of time are his two old rivals, to the left Archibald Carlisle McKinley, Sallie's 

husband and to the right Alexander Campbell Wylly, Company H's troop commander, both 

having played a hand in his unlucky fate. All united by the common experience of having 
fought in a great and terrible Civil War. 

 
Baillie continued living with Blanche and John's family at Rocky Knoll. And it was in this 
neat whitewashed one storey farmhouse, adjacent to the railroad tracks in Sunnyside, Griffin, 

Georgia, that he passed peacefully away. The time was 1: 00pm, on September 30, 1912, aged 

84 years, he was kind and attentive to the end. The vivid memories of those four unforgettable 

years with the cavalry and the two beautiful women whose love he had won and then lost 
were forever burnt into his soul. So much so that the same vivid memories would even survive 

his death and surface in another future generation.  
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Written coincidentally this day February 23, 2001, about Baillie by Baillie on Baillie's 173
rd

 

Birthday! 
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Chapter Two 

Norman 
 

n Wednesday January 24, 2001 at 10:00pm local time I walked across the tarmac of 
Corpus Christi jetport, Texas. It was a clear night and the lights of the oil refineries 

had sparkled magically like fairy Christmas trees as we descended to land through the 

dark sky not 15 minutes previous. I was carrying a cereal packet box and the care that I took 

with it had amused the airhostess during the journey from Atlanta. Her curiosity piqued, so I 
paused to explain that I was carrying a very special scratch built model of the CSS Alabama 

to a very special man for I was on a cosmic voyage of profound importance. She was so 

enthralled by the perfect little model that she insisted I show it to the Captain and co-pilot, 
gladly I agreed, yet I was just steps away from fulfilling my mission and the tension in my 

chest was palpable. Consequently I was the last to walk down the aircraft steps, the 

combination of these events made the next few moments timeless. 

 
In the distance at the terminal building door was a lone figure, illuminated by the electric light 

streaming from within, somehow I instinctively knew that it was Dr Norman C Delaney. I had 

planned this meeting for almost a year and I had travelled an ocean and a continent, the 7000 
miles just to shake his hand and embrace him. That moment was now. Overjoyed I paused 

stood to attention, saluted and said, "The cavalry's arrived Sir!" All of my fine rehearsed 

speeches went out of the window as the emotion poured forth. We had made physical contact 

in the matrix the circle was now complete. Feeling somewhat like a nervous schoolboy 
meeting an august academic professor for the first time, I made hurried conversation. He was 

every inch the gentleman I had expected and known from our correspondence, so kind and 

eloquent, I was quickly at ease in his presence. It was if we had always known each other. 
Calm yet wanting to say so many things in such a short space of physical time, we strode 

purposefully toward the baggage reclaim. The tension was so great that I seized the 

opportunity caused by the wait for the bags to quickly spill the contents of my valise on to the 

floor. Placing the bright yellow cavalry Captain's kepi onto my head I explained in one giant 
outpouring of data, that we had cracked the puzzle.  

O 
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All Baillie had wanted to be was a Captain, an Officer, to win Sallie and be like his brother. 
Emotionally I presented Norman with the model that I had lovingly fashioned whilst on the 

beach at our house in Herne Bay the previous summer and the reproduction Confederate 

Naval Officers belt buckle and tunic buttons that I had carefully selected as a fitting gift for 

the "professor". The other passengers were totally unaware of the significance of what had 
just come to pass, after a gap of over 100 years Baillie had been reunited with this brother! 

 

Over the next week we had many adventures as we squared the matrix. Baillie told his brother 
that he had never meant to argue and fall out all those years ago and that he regretted not 

being able to apologise before his brother's death in 1900. He told him how much he loved 

him and respected his sense of duty and ideals. All was put on an even footing as we righted 
the unfinished business of a century ago. But the story had begun with the first tentative 

contacts through the e-mail in late June 1999. I had found Norman's e-mail address through 

Ashley Pollete author of the 5
th
 Georgia Cavalry web site. Having discovered the photograph 

in March of that year, I scanned a copy to Ash for inclusion into the expanding site, but I 
cautioned that the copyright would have to be agreed with the author of the article Dr Norman 

C Delaney. I was excited to find that Ash had secured permission and had included a return e-

mail button to Norman. I was acutely concerned that I did not want to come across as some 
sort of English nut case with my strange but true theories on the functioning of the Universe 

and that I suspected Baillie and I were indeed one and the same being. 

 
Events progressed as I journeyed to Georgia in July 1999 and I relayed my expanding 

awareness of Baillie's life to the folks in America. Principally Ashley Pollette in Sneads, 

Florida and Tommy Houston in Ludowici Georgia, but now Norman came increasingly into 

the frame as the data gathering gained momentum. My Intelligent Universe thesis had gained 
recognition and I was awarded an Honorary Ph.D on the 6

th
 of October 1999, which put the 

work on a higher academic footing. The inkling of the importance of this discovery was now 

beginning to set in and the possibility of producing a wholly original piece of work was about 
to become reality. The conversation turned to the model that I had been making during the 

summer recess at Herne Bay after returning from Georgia. 

 

October 12, 1999: 

Hi Norman 

I'm at home now..........I realised I goofed when I looked at my model re gun layout 

I have attached at quick sketch that I have just scanned in. Can you give it the once over? 

Ian 

PS I'll send you a picture of me as a safety boatman! To show you that us Baillie's (Kell's) 

have the sea in our blood 

  

Ian C. Baillie BSc(Hons),PCGE 

Head of Science 

St Mary's Westbroook 

Ravenlea Road 

Folkestone 

Kent CT20 2JU 

 

I love this new scanner! 

Here's one of me taken in Darien July'99 John's Plaque behind, I was trying to stand still 

whilst dodging the "Skeeters" and "ninja gnats". How the heck did they live there on that 

marsh!????? 

Ian 

--  

Ian C. Baillie "Two 11 inch Dahlgren's make a difference!" 
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Norman wrote back in characteristic fashion expanding the topic: 

October 15, 1999 
 

Yes, congratulations, Ian, for the recognition you are receiving for your work. When it comes 

to Science and technology, I realize my utter ignorance. (I'd love to be in one of your classes.) 

There are courses on using Computers, Internet, etc., but I've been trying to teach myself. So, 
as to breaking the "code," I'm going to have to work on that. 

I have found a "paint" under "accessories," under "programs," if I can just get it all together. 

Interesting to know that you tried to find the USS KEARSARGE model. I've been trying to find 
one for years, finally wrote to the company, and learned that it was no longer among their 

items. Too bad I missed the opportunity some years back. 

My ALABAMA model (Revell) is my second. A long time ago when I lived in Newburyport, 
Massachusetts with my parents, I made the model, then I moved to Texas, because it was too 

fragile to move. But I knew I'd make another one, which I did. It's right above my desk, along 

with Semmes' and Sinclair's books. (I never did find Kell's, a rare book indeed.) 

I'll keep experimenting with "paint." 
Best wishes, 

Norman 

 
I was enthused as to this new working relationship with Norman in Texas courtesy of the e-

mail. I was struck by the similarity of attention to detail that John McIntosh Kell had given to 

writing as Norman displayed whilst checking my article on Baillie. 
 

Ian, 

 I got it! This has helped to restore my faith in e-mail communication. Whatever method you 

used it came through perfectly. I like your article and agree with your assessment of poor 
Baillie. Oh, to be overshadowed by a famous older brother and those doting sisters! (They 

had acted the same with John, "Donny," as they called him, until he was able to break away 

in the navy. The mother, Margery, actually acknowledged that her son John was her favorite 
child. Imagine what a blow psychologically that would have inflicted on poor Baillie!) 

There are several typo errors in the manuscript that I can point out but only if you want me 

to, 

i.e. "succession" instead of "secession" and a lot of apostrophes where there shouldn't be. 
Regarding content: on page 

2 You state that "War fever swept the land in 1860. . ." I don't think so then.  I would state 

that "secession fever" swept the states of the Lower South after Lincoln's election in 
November of 1860. "War fever" would not have come until after the firing on Fort Sumter on 

April 12, 1861. Up to that time many in the South believed that they would get away with 

having left the Union without having a war. On two occasions you refer to "sea cotton," 
whereas that reference should be to "sea island" cotton. One other thing comes to my 

attention right toward the end. You state that "John made a name for himself in Atlanta. . ." 

That would not be the case until he was appointed Adjutant General by Governor Gordon in 

1886. Good article, Ian, I hope you plan to have it published. 
(Have you seen a copy of my Kell book? It has a drawing of Laurel Grove sketched by Hetty 

Kell.) 

Thanks for letting me see your article. 
Norman 

 

A drawing of Laurel Grove! Wow, how fantastic a picture of where Baillie was born and 
raised drawn by his favourite sister. After a little help from a colleague, Norman sent the 

picture, the scan appeared miraculously and with it much more new detail. 

 

Hello, again! I'm going to have to admit that I don't know how to send pictures over e-mail, 
but I'll ask my colleagues tomorrow if they can do it for me. A scanner: Is that something that 

has to be installed in the computer or is it outside the computer? There's so much I don't 
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know about computer technology! Right about the sea island variety of cotton; it was ideally 

suited for the coastal areas. Somewhere in my files I have information from the 1860 
agricultural census (McIntosh County) that would indicate what other crops and livestock 

were being grown/raised at the Kell plantation. In fact, Hetty Kell's sketch includes grazing 

sheep. I'll see what I can do about scanning that picture to you. The more I think about it the 

better I can understand your bonding with your relative, Baillie Kell. It's great! 
Signing off, 

Norman 

 

 
Here is Hetty Kell's picture of Laurel Grove. Let me know if it comes through OK. 
Norman 

 

Brilliant the front porch is exactly as I imagined it................amazing 

Ian C. Baillie 

 

Ian, a few other things that have come to my attention. Darien was torched by the black 

soldiers of Col. Robert Gould Shaw's 54th Massachusetts Colored Regiment in 1863, but 
Laurel Grove was spared until it burned to ground several years later. 

 

Was it not also Montgomery's 2nd South Carolina? Shaw was unfairly blamed and found 

the whole affair distasteful? I didn't know that? Curiouser and curiouser. I always 

assumed that it copped it when Darien did, due to its close proximity.  Mind you your initial 

article mentioned that it was in a "run down state" upon Baillie's return after the war. I 

should pay more attention to the detail!!! I wouldn't make a very good lawyer! 

 

You might mention that although the plantations were initially turned over to the Freedmen 

by the Yankees, within a short time they were forcibly removed by Federal troops and the 
lands returned to their original owners. 

 

That's true the Tunis Campbell affair followed by the Spalding's managing to get their 

"enemy" to do their bidding! Brilliant.............thank you so much for all of your excellent 

points 

Ian 

  
The detail that Norman had accumulated was astounding and he was really warming to the 

research challenge in true Delaney style. Also there was another new first, Norman had actual 

letters from the family regarding Baillie's background and situation, this was becoming truly 
amazing. All this information had survived the ravages of time. Stored so that one day I might 

find it and piece together my past. 

 
Ian, I hope you received the picture of Laurel Grove. It took a real team effort here to get it 

done. It turned out that my Department Chair couldn't do it after all; he had never done it, so 

we had to find someone who knew how, our Department Whiz Kid. I watched him, but it still 

seemed fairly complicated and he didn't slow down to explain the procedure. I have 
something else to tell you that you may find interesting. Laurel Grove belonged to Margery 

Kell through her Baillie/McIntosh kin. I found a copy of the Marriage Contract between John 

Kell and Margery Spalding Baillie (1816) which concerns Laurel Grove, containing 240 
acres, and the 21 negro slaves that she brought to the marriage The burning of Darien, which 

Colonel Shaw deemed "distasteful and barbarous," occurred on June 11, 1863. Although 

Laurel Grove was not burned, Margery and her daughters were compelled to evacuate.  Here 
is from a letter that Hetty wrote to Blanche Kell soon afterwards: "Mother says I must tell 

you, she has given up. She is sick at heart. 



 34 

She is grieving so over old Darien. She says she has no heart to write Donny for she has 

nothing good to tell him. She thinks we shall never live at the Grove again and is really 
miserable about it." And when Margery was finally able to write to her daughter in law, she 

wrote: "Poor old Darien. I felt as though I had lost my oldest friend--it is linked with my 

earliest recollections and I feel that we would be so isolated at the Grove without Darien. No 

church--no friends nearer than over the river. Charles will never go back. The Holmes and 
Gouldings broke up. . . ." 

 

The 1850 Agricultural Census indicates that 160 acres were under cultivation--cotton, sweet 
potato, peas, and beans. The estate was valued at $10,000, livestock at $550, and farm 

implements at $100. 

Let me know if you need any additional information. 
Norman 

 

The information was beginning to trigger my memory. I was able to make sense of many 

strange feelings that had occurred for no apparent reason in my life. I began to realise that my 
sub-conscious had been responding to similar places, events and historical sites that I had 

physically visited during this lifetime. My phrase emotion is the language of the soul was 

taking on a concrete reality through personal experience. The thrill of seeing all this come to 
life before my eyes was electrifying, for I was not merely a spectator, but actually in the plot. 

This was real life X-files happening to little old me, who would have thought it? 

 
Sunday November 7, 1999: 

Hi Norman 

Just a quickie ..............I took the boarders swimming at the leisure centre in Tenterden this 

afternoon and had a chance to analyse the picture......so here I go. I think I recognise the 

view! 

In the background to the left is Fort King George across the marshes towards the Altamaha 

The sheep are cows lying down....I don't think they had sheep the view is of the back of the 

house? With the land sloping to the left towards Kell's landing and the marsh. The Wilmer 

Mclean House at Appomattox Court House was similar in layout.........the stairs appeared to 

be the front, but are actually the back....this surprised me at the time, but it did look 

familiar in '91 when I visited. 

Just a thought! It may be that this was indeed the front of the Kell's house in the picture, 

which is why the Appomattox Mclean house shocked me as it seemed to be the wrong way 

around? Darien would be off to the right at a reasonable distance so the house is at an 

angle........I'll work out orientation tomorrow on the map and scan it to you The white fence 

to the right separates the estate from the other parts of Darien. 

Please excuse any mistakes, but this is really exciting and it is late. I will check out my facts 

tomorrow...mean time 

How am I doing? 

The picture is brilliant thank you so much for your team effort! 

Regards Ian 
 

Norman replied: 

Ian, 
 I'm glad you like Hetty's painting of Laurel Grove. You know, I never considered those beasts 

any other than sheep, but maybe you're right, I guess they could be cattle after all. I borrowed 

the painting (the original is rather small size) and others (including Baillie's picture) from 
Munroe d'Antignac, a grandson of Kell, back in 1966 when I was researching my Kell 

biography as a graduate student at Duke University. Good thing I did, as I'd never be able to 

obtain these pictures now. d'Antignac is long dead and he co-operated fully with my research 

endeavors while alive. I was glad that he lived long enough to see the book on his grandfather 
published (in 1973) and that he liked it. I still can't get over my actually sending a picture by 
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e-mail! Or, rather, my colleague did it for me, so I can't take full credit. I like your analysis of 

the picture, Ian, and connecting it with the Kells the way it would have been before the war. 
Great! 

Till later, then, Norman 

 

The next day I hurried to work out the exact location of the plantation from the picture and 
orientation points. When completed I scanned it in and sent a copy to Norman, he was pleased 

with the results and my methods. Praise indeed from the professor! 

 
Ian, 

 Your map looks good to me. (Wouldn't it be nice to be able to go over the area with a metal 

detector? I wonder if anyone has done that.) Yesterday I failed to mention your sketch of a 
cavalryman of the 5th Georgia Regiment. Very nice! Be sure to include it with your Baillie 

article. The way you look at history, as a scientist, intrigues me. As I see it, an historian 

should view his subject from all perspectives the way a scientist/detective conducts an 

investigation. The way an artist looks at an object as well. Not to mention a psychologist, etc. 
A meeting of the minds. Keep up the good work. 

Norman 

 
My reply came instantly, coincidences were beginning to flow freely and the information 

gathering accelerate: 

 

Good idea Norman! But there are a lot of shanty dwellings on the site round about. It could 

be worth a try on a future trip. We have a channel 4 TV program called "Time Team", 

which uses a similar multiple technique of excavation over a two day period. It would be 

interesting :) It's definitely different! 

We tend to chase down linear corridors of enquiry like academic rottweilers!  Sherlock 

Holmes........elementary my dear Norman! Thank you for you encouragement and your 

time I appreciate both very much! 

Latest Kell pic I just had my driving Licence photo taken today as I have to change my title 

from Mr to Dr so I composited it for comparison with Baillie. Note the stunning 

similarity!!!  

Oh yes a colleague of mine said that looking at Baillie's eyes he may have been short 

sighted.........perhaps that is another reason why he might not have won promotion? 

Kind regards Ian 

  
Norman advised me of an Inter-net bookseller that had a copy of his long out of print book 

"John McIntosh Kell of the Raider Alabama". Taking advantage of the roll that we were on I 

did not hesitate but to immediately purchase it. 
 

Hi Norman 

I've managed to secure your book from the shop so it should be on its 

way.......hurrah and Many thanks :) As regards History approach, I favour the 

practical one, reconstructing artefacts and technology. I see history in a technology 

geography scenario, the side with the high ground and superior tech wins. Back to 

those Yankees again!!! Firing my Colt Walker tells you more in two minutes than 

countless books on the subject about the limitations and advantages of the artefact. 
I also like modern geophysical methods, multi-source documents, re-enactment etc. Ken 

Burns did one hell'va job on the Civil War series which actually took longer than the war 

to make. 

It was always the haunting realism of Civil war photographs that drew me back to the civil 

war. I always imagined that I would find myself in a civil war photograph and it finally 

came true! 
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I'm also an ardent war gamer and have reconstructed many battles and periods since being 

a lad. I have made Viking armour, English Civil war armour and taken part in living 

history camps. At school my best subjects were Chemistry (gunpowder!), history, and art; 

straight A's. I chose science, as the job prospects were better and I love rockets and space; 

back in '69 I wanted to work for NASA, still do. As a scientist we always look for cause and 

effect. The civil war has been a massive "effect" in shaping my life and now I think I've 

found the cause, old Baillie! 

I think also I have discovered the physics to back it up. My thesis is mainly about that. So I 

am ecstatic that after some 35 years I now have some answers and it is thanks to you and 

your clarity of mind that all this has been resolved. I am eternally in you debt good sir! 

Regards Ian 

 
Out of the blue came this message from Norman, his son would soon pay a visit and I would 

get to see a chip off the old block. The eerie parallels were unfolding, Baillie had been 

extremely fond of his young nephew Johnnie the eldest son of John McIntosh Kell. Now 

Baillie present would get to meet the matrix equivalent of young Johnny! I intuitively knew 
that we would hit it off immediately. 

 

Ian, 
I'm not sure I ever mentioned that I have a son, Stephen, teaching in France, in Tours. It's 

quite an experience for him of course. Last year he was teaching (English, public schools) in 

Loches, France, which is a much smaller community. He even used a bicycle to get around, 
whereas this year in Tours he uses the buses to get to the three schools he's assigned. Last 

year he came home for the Christmas holiday, but it's so expensive that he won't be coming 

home this year. The pay he's receiving is just enough to get by. I suggested to him that he use 

some of the two-week holiday to visit England, and I'm sure he'd enjoy hearing English for a 
change. Is there a possibility that he might visit you for a few days if that would be no 

problem? You could advise him as to a place to stay and show him around. (?) This may be 

the worst time of the year for you to consider such a request, but I thought I'd ask. Steve is a 
fine boy. There was a time when he considered Physics as a major, but was drawn to his true 

love: Creative writing (an M.F.A. from Wichita State). He was a Teaching Assistant during 

that time, then discovered this wonderful opportunity to teach abroad. He's been using some 

of his free time to explore Paris and other places, but should really get to see England while 
he's over there. I've suggested Youth Hostels as inexpensive and a chance to meet interesting 

people. I know that you'd like Steve and he certainly would love meeting a Renaissance man 

like yourself. Anyway, hope you don't mind my bringing it up. Hope that all goes well.  
Norman 

  

The plans were going well and we were busy at school getting ready for the end of term. I 
was quite excited at the prospect of meeting Steve and discussing the many aspects of the 

structure and function of the Universe that I had discovered. I was beginning to know Norman 

well from the communications and I had built a mental picture of him in my head. The chance 

to find out more about him with Steve filled me with anticipation. I was already planning 
what I would show him of Canterbury as the end of the Millennium was drawing near. With 

the discovery of the photo and the chain of events that had culminated in my Doctorate 

everything seemed to be climaxing toward the Christmas New Year period, a time of intense 
novelty. 

 

Ian, thank you for your quick response. It would be great if you could find a place for Steve to 
spend a few days at Canterbury. Even if the YMCA doesn't work out, there should be some 

other lodging place, He intends to go on to London and stay at a Youth Hostel while there. 

(Sure wish I could be there with him!) I've sent Steve your e-mail address (hope that's OK) 

and will send you his: scdelaney@hotmail.com      
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He's able to get to a computer there in Tours at least a few times a week. The dates of 

his Christmas break seem to be pretty much the same as yours. He'll need to send you 

more specific dates when he expects to be in England. Thanks again! 

Norman 

 

Affirmative Sir! 5th Cav all the way.............sure we can fix something.  

We are now into exam week, followed by report writing and the best bit, pre-Christmas 

frivolities! Oh and by the way "Happy Thanksgiving on the 25
th
" Shame Steve is in France 

I bet you will miss him? Have you any other family apart from Steve and your brother? 

Books coming along OK, I'll have a bash at Christmas to knock it into shape. The Kell 

memories keep piling up. I now know what happened to Captain Brailsford and his capture 

at Murfreesboro, Tenn 1864. Turns out that it was not the whole of Co H that were mostly 

killed or capture, but only those that had stayed to get their horses shod etc. Baillie must 

have been with the main party as his horse was probably OK? So he got away with it! This 

is from a first hand account in the new book "In the Saddle" Exploits of the 5th Georgia 

Cavalry in the Civil War by Timothy Daiss. An endearing little book with mostly first hand 

sources and some photos showing the Uniform detail which is useful. I intend to 

commission a uniform as accurate as possible after Christmas. I already have several 

pieces. This will be photographed with me on horse back for the book, sometime in the 

Spring. Claudia the horse is already lined up for the job!  

Baillie's possible uniform not 100% sure, but it's getting there. Note the turning round of 

the belt to make the cartridge box accessible in skirmishing.........you can load your Sharp's 

a lot quicker that way. 

Well better close. Best wishes and thanks for your chat, much appreciated Norman! 

Regards Ian 

                            __________ 

Dr Ian C. Baillie: I \* \    /*/I  In memory of; 

                             I \* \  /*/ I  Alexander Baillie Kell 1828 to 1912 

                            I  \* \/*/  I  5th Georgia Vol. Cavalry CSA 

                           I   )* (    I   

                          I  /*/ \*\  I  "No more a Rebel...much!" 

                         I /*/  \*\ I  

                        I/*/    \*\I  

                       """""""  

 

After receiving Hetty's picture of Laurel Grove I was inspired to produce a picture of Baillie 

returning home on his horse at the end of 1864. The feel of the white clapboard walls and the 
setting in snow fitted nicely with the image of the lone horseman returning. I often produce a 

unique Christmas card using my artistic skills and the card usually reflects my current 

interests and research efforts. Little was I to know the importance of this process that I was 

about to unleash, for this was about to become the major tool for unlocking the mems of 
Baillie with in my mind. The artistic creative part of the brain allows the sub-conscious a 

channel to communicate through, to visibly manifest into the presence of the conscious. In 

scientific terms I was about to indulge in a spot of remote viewing. The uncanny feel and 
accuracy of the picture was suddenly validated as I read a passage of Norman's book over the 

holiday period. I had kept the time ready to indulge my pleasure of sinking into a good book 

during the traditional festivities of the Christmas break.  
 

Hi Norman 

I have sent an e-mail to Steve and we are looking for places to stay... meanwhile 

here's a little picture based on Hetty Kell's drawing you sent me. I am going to use 

it on my Christmas card, it's called "Almost Home; Winter of '65" and shows old 

Baillie returned from fightin' in the backyard for a brief look at home. 
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Hope you like it and thanks once again for your efforts in sending me the drawing. Your 

book should be well on the way by now so I look forward to reading it over Christmas. 

Kind regards Ian 

--                     ___________                         ____________ 

Ian Baillie:      :\* \     /*/:  5th Georgia Vol :****** ------: 

                        : \* \   /*/ :   Cavalry CSA     : **** --------: 

                       :  \* \ /*/  :                              :****** ------: 

                      :   \ * /    :     "broken but... : **** --------: 

                     :   /* * \   :      not beaten!"  :---------------: 

                    :  /*/ \* \  :                             :---------------: 

                   : /*/   \* \ :                             :---------------: 

                  """""""                              """"""""""  

 "We fought to the end and surrendered in good order as Southern Gentlemen  

should...Hillsboro, NC April 26, 1865" 
 

 
For as I read the passage on page 188; John and Blanche had set up home in Walthourville 

near Savannah on November 21
st
 1864 in a little rough wood cabin with solid shutters. Then 

came the magic sentence Baillie also came to see them and was afterward impressed into the 

defense of Savannah while trying to rejoin his regiment. Baillie had made it! Exactly as I 

had felt the emotion deep within, which had impelled my painting. It was not Laurel Grove as 

I had painted, but very similar, the lone horseman had arrived to see his brother and dear 
sister-in-law whilst covering a fighting retreat against General Sherman's mighty legion of 60 

000 men. Out of the blue, single-handed, he had turned up. The sentence and the image were 

one and the same. I was stunned at the accuracy of prediction. Upon returning to school I 

decided to try to help repay Ashley and Tommy for all their hard work by painting some 
pictures for the 5

th
 Georgia Cavalry web site. It was just my way of saying thank you to the 

guys. I have always found art relaxing and not having time in my busy schedule to make toy 

soldiers as I used to, I set about drawing and depicting scenes from the life of the regiment. A 
new enterprise was born and one which was to pay handsome dividends in the pursuit of 

Baillie's memory. On cue in the matrix the book arrived at just the right time: 

 

Great news Norman......I got home rather dejected as somebody broke into the lab on 

Saturday night and hacked into my computer to look up dodgy web sites for four hours and 

again on Sunday morning for twenty minutes........... 

But your book had arrived and I could hardly put it down for dinner! Great job, I've 

scanned all the "Baillie" references and it reads like a walk on part in a Shakespeare play. 

Poor Baillie! I see what you mean Mom was a bit of an iron lady and Donny was her 

favourite. Still John paid for Baillie's education, which was nice and he ended up with a 

BA. 

I'm still at a loss though as to why Baillie couldn't make a go of it in his own post war life, 

unless the "family" like our Royals were too strong? I can see why he didn't want to hire a 

substitute as his Mother wished.........it was his big chance to "get away". 

No wonder I have Baillie's memories of the 5th! It would have been the most exciting time 

of his life and one that was so strong that even physical death couldn't block them from 

resurfacing in another time!!! 

Wow! 

Ian 

Thanks for making my Millennium. I shall read your marvelous tome avidly over the break 

and digest the detail. It is very well written from what I can see, well done you must be very 

proud? The condition is very good and I particularly like the blue dust cover and stylish 

cartoon on the front.  

Coincidence is exactly how the Universe functions, it functions on interconnections, as all 
things are one. This self-same coincidence was at work in our stories. The tail end of 

Norman's next e-mail gave a good example of this: 
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Hope you like my book, Ian. I spent a good deal of time becoming acquainted with the Kells 
and am so glad that I had the privilege. My advisor-professor at Duke U. had planned to 

write the book himself but was close to retirement and passed along the project to me. How 

fortunate can one be! 

Bye for now. Norman 
 

Exactly, he had instinctively given the right job to exactly the right person. Serendipity, fate 

call it what you like, it had happened. I was beginning to realise as I became more aware of 
my own story and past that all human beings in the matrix are doing the same thing; following 

their own stories, with the exception that most do not realise that we are indeed doing it. 

Occasionally we stop and say, "Well what a coincidence?" But we soon forget and move on. 
We function as automatons in the matrix, but by becoming aware and looking for the 

connections, coincidences and such like, we become more in tune with ourselves and others. I 

am not unique, perhaps my story is, but we are all accessing the past and maybe the future to 

some extent, as time has no meaning in higher dimensions. Time is merely an artefact of the 
3D space that we live in. James Redfield in his excellent book The Celestine prophecy was 

the first popular author to make this known to the public in general. 

 
Together we reflected on the scene in the Christmas card of the lonesome Baillie standing in 

front of his home: 

 
Very nice picture, Ian! I think it's great that finally someone is thinking about the forgotten 

"little brother" of the Kell family. And wouldn't Baillie be pleased! Good work! 

 

Thanks, that's exactly how I feel. I realise now that it was the family that nearly broke 

"poor Baillie" not the war. The war was the most exciting thing that happened to him, it 

gave him his freedom-and he never forgot it. The whole terrible experience of death and 

destruction was tempered by the excitement of riding with the "Knights in Gray"  

That's why he strangely refused to pay $100 for a draft substitute as his mother wished. It 

was his ticket out! A chance to escape from mother just as his brother had done.  He loved 

his brother; Donny paid the college bill. I bet they had many adventures when they were 

young messing about in boats on Doboy Sound and the inlets. A bit Tom Sawyerish crossed 

with Swallows and Amazons. 

The nice refined neat ladies would soon have put a stop to all that nonsense! 

 Your book is a treasure! I shall cherish it forever, as I said I shall read it Christmas. That 

is the fitting time to read such an important document. 

 I was thinking about Baillie's fiancée, did she have blonde hair? I suppose we will never 

know. Shame it was nice seeing a picture of Blanche and the kids. Not a great beauty, but 

wholesome and honest.  Funny thing is that the women in my life are always telling me the 

correct and sensible thing to do-trouble is they're usually right! Sometimes I just want to 

run away and do the opposite-just like Baillie. That's the Rebel in me! 

Yours Confederately Ian 
 

Ian Baillie: 2nd Ammendment to the Constitution  

" Every citizen shall have the right to keep and arm bears! " 
 

I was beginning to ask the right questions, the first stirrings of what would be unleashed 5 

months later were beginning to rise from the depths of my sub-conscious. 
The coincidences continued on cue: 

 

Ian, I'm in the middle of correcting final exams, but want to ask one question: Do you know 

Stephen Hawkings? It dawned on me that the subject of your research touches on his 
speciality, too, the origin of the universe. Steve is a fan of Hawkings and another physicist, 
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Feynman, I believe, who is now deceased. I'll bet that you can make science interesting, and 

even FUN. 
For now, Norman 

 

Exactly right Norman, I do not know him personally, but I have read his book. Our ideas 

go way beyond Hawkings. He does consider them, but in his position he is careful in what 

he says. That's why scientists never talk on the news groups - in case you quote them! Peer 

pressure is such that they are scared stiff of losing their credibility and more cynically their 

meal ticket. It is strange that we are all stifled in the pursuit of truth by the very mechanism 

that should be encouraging new research and ideas. The status quo have always been in 

favour of burning the new kid on the block at the stake! So we have always traditionally 

explored our ideas through the medium of science fiction. 

I used to be very careful about what I said for fear of losing my job. My wife would always 

remind me so. But along came the X files and at first I could not believe that they could 

screen such stuff- so near to the truth (especially series one) After three it went down hill. 

Since then I can mention things without batting an eyelid. In fact the kids at school already 

seem to know many of the things that I have discovered! As Jung put it we are all tuned in 

to the collective subconscious. In fact it is the Universal inter-net if you like. If Steve likes 

Hawkings then I'm your man! Interesting especially as he is a creative writer. I wonder 

why he likes Science and from which perspective? Here for example is a geometric diagram 

which gives the true ratios of Earth, Moon and Mars correct to 99.9% 

This is known as the New Jerusalem diagram and is the floor plan of Stonehenge and 

several gothic cathedrals. It's a subconscious thing, we just know it! Oh and it also squares 

the circle an ancient geometric conundrum in that the circle circumference and the 

square's perimeter are the same! 44 units. 
The moon is not an accident it is a design as is everything else. 

 

Eg Just down from Darien GA is Folkston with the River St Mary's running through it, to 

St Mary's on the coast next door. I was born in Folkestone Kent in 1954 and I work now at 

St. Mary's Westbrook, which used to be a convent two years ago. Spooky!? Nah not really 

it's just how the Universe works. 

 

Baillie and me share the same soul memories. I am 99.9% sure that we are the same 

consciousness just in different physical bodies. Time is just and illusion, which we perceive 

from our 3D perspective. I think that from a God's eye view it would look more like a 

bubble or donut and that we could be several physical beings at once! It's just from a 

geometric topological view it looks like linear History!!! :) Physics is FUN! 

The Universe is simply a multi-dimensional holographic illusion! 

 

How's that grab you? 

Yours Confederately Ian  

 

 ( I'm in a good mood as I've finished scrubbing up the labs for Christmas. The kids broke 

up last Friday and I spent most of the day making Blackpowder salutes. Millennial Mega 

salutes x 24 (30g powder each) and 21 times 5 and 6 tube Confederate Cavalry Crackers! 

(15g powder each). So we are all set to celebrate the big moment and guess who's in charge 

of the fireworks?!!! It's handy having a Chemistry lab) 

  

Ian C. Baillie   "The Universe is simply a product of 

                     the interactive harmonic resonance of complex waveforms; 

                     created, ordered and sustained by consciousness" 

                                                    ICB97 

 

Interrupted by the millennial celebrations our dialogue continued from where we left off:  

January 4, 2000 
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Hello. Ian; here's wishing you a very happy year 2000 in every way. I was glad to receive 
your e-mail this morning when the college opened up again (although classes don't begin for 

another two weeks). And I'm especially glad that you and Stephen were able to get together 

during his break. He enjoyed it immensely, despite the short time to be with you in 

Canterbury and to see some of London's attractions. He arrived back in Tours at 9:00 a.m. on 
Monday expecting to meet his classes, but instead learning that classes don't resume until 

tomorrow! That was good news! 

By the way, regarding Canterbury Cathedral and Thomas Becket: I understand that  
Henry VIII removed the body and looted the place for his own ends, but were Becket's bones 

ever returned to his tomb? Come to think of it, what ever happened to Cromwell's body? I 

know that he was disinterred after the Restoration and his head exhibited as a"criminal" for 
all to see. I hope that Becket did better than that! 

Steve mentioned that you are another devotee of Dr. Who. And he must have 

mentioned the X-Files, too. I'm sure you two had a lot to talk about. I'll end this for 

now. 

Best wishes, Norman 
 

You beat me to it! Happy New Year. 

Pauline banned the computer over the holiday so we have been indulging in family 

activities such a Monopoly, Cluedo and Trivial Pursuit plus seeing all our relatives. 

Stephen and I had a quality experience in Canterbury and I found him to be excellent 

company! We hit it off from the word go....I met him outside McDonald's near the bus 

station at 11:45 on Dec 28, Becket's Anniversary and we headed straight for a Pub with log 

fire and I made sure that he was fed and watered! With Steak and Ale pie and real ale to 

drink (the best of English for the weather and time of years). We spent an hour chatting 

during which I told him about the Kell connection and the Physics of it all. I then 

shouldered his bag and we set off for the YHA, which I had previously reconnoitred. 

Leaving the bags we then went to do a tour of the sights starting with the Cathedral in all 

its magnificent, which was the highlight and with a bonus service in full swing. We had an 

extensive architectural tour of the city and discussed the English historical perspective. 

Especially why the English are so darn English! Finally we went and sampled city shops by 

foot and returned to my car, which I re-parked in the city as it was now 18:00 hours and 

traffic OK. We made for Pizza Hutt as it was a known quantity and enjoyed our meal 

together. We then retired to the same log fire chatting where until just after 22:00 hrs, we 

put the world to rights!  Then we drove back to the YHA and I said Abientot! I presented 

him with a copy of some of my book notes as a souvenir (Intro plus first three chapters) as I 

feel they may in another guise turn up in one of his creative SCI FI novels in the future?!!! 

An excellent day had by all! :) Talking of books I must congratulate you on the "John 

McIntosh Kell of the Raider Alabama." A first class read.........it flowed beautifully and 

would make an excellent film. I recognised several sources and quotes, which were 

accurately and seamlessly threaded into the story. Brilliant stuff, I now have a much better 

idea of "poor Baillie's" situation and his movements. My Christmas picture was correct in 

its sentiment, in that he did indeed return home in late November 1864, but to Retreat near 

Walthourville, Liberty County to see his brother & mother, there after being impressed into 

the defence of Savannah. My favourite bit was "Baillie, however, was either unable or 

unwilling to buy a substitute; any rate, he was soon back in the army as a private in the 5
th
 

Georgia Cavalry" This said it all, his one chance for escape and adventure! 

As for Becket "print the legend!" I shall ask the Rev Richard Wood at school He will know 

for sure. Cromwell is indeed true and there are several skulls claiming to be the original. 

Best wishes Ian 

Regards from Doc Baillie "Happy New Millennium...MM" 
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Gosh, I must be more careful with my addresses. Yesterday I sent one off to 

docbaillie.demon.demon.uk and it was returned with the comment that it contained "fatal 
errors." Trouble is my eyesight sometimes does tricks on me. What I had commented on was 

your visit with Steve and how much I would have enjoyed being with you two! Yes, science 

and history, a marvellous combination, at least in the hands of the right person like yourself. 

In case I haven't already indicated, you and any member of your family have a standing 
invitation here in Corpus Christi, which would mean all the more since nobody ever visits us 

here so far removed from anywhere here in south Texas. So thanks again for your kindness to 

Steve. I was about to comment on "English hospitality," but I'm also reminded of Laurel 
Grove in the good old days of typically Southern hospitality.   

Best wishes, Norman 

 

You are too kind Norman! 

The spirit of the South lives on a warm hearth and a good welcome, are things Scots the 

World over appreciate. When will you make it across the pond? Surely you must come and 

see where the good ol' 290 was built!!!? 

Oh I asked the Rev Richard Wood today about Thomas a' Becket and he said what 

I suspected that we just do not know where his remains are buried. Shame. 
The older I get the more I am aware of how little remains of our passing. We are but 

footprints on the beach of time, soon to be washed away by the sea! That was my 

impression of Darien last summer not just a town, but a whole civilisation and culture 

vanished..........amazing. The great thing about your book was that it breathed life into those 

characters. The other references are very third person, but I now feel that I have 

recaptured the characters and faces of the Kells. I really can't explain how marvellous it 

was to read of those events and the photos too. I have some of John with Admiral Semmes 

on deck from the William C Davis book. The Civil War photos have always held a magnetic 

fascination for me. It's as if the long sitting times required meant that a part of the person's 

soul was left behind in the image. I think they are some of the most powerful and stunning 

images that I have ever seen. Ken Burns obviously thought the same way! 

Well back to the chalk face...........we had an ICT inset course today......the one word 

missing was "money"! The techno haves vs the techno have nots a new class divide. 

Interesting stuff, but you have to have access to the kit. Mine is now at home and the baby 

flies! We do not have masses of money, but we know a good thing when we see it! 

Oh yes Harriet my 11year old daughter was elected Form Captain (President) today, which 

was a nice thing. 

I do hope that Stephen will pay us another visit this year and stay with us, he is such a nice 

young man. You both must be very proud of him, I know that I would be if he was my son. 

He told me about your severed head antic for the French Revolution at College.....way to go 

Norman...... that's got to get them interested, first you capture their interest and then you 

teach them something. 

Time to tuck Harriet in. 

I've lots of detail to discuss re Baillie's appearances in the book, but I will keep them for 

another day 

Until then Abientot 

Ian 

 
Our conversation broadened, as Norman became aware of the web site that Ashley and 

Tommy had put together. The Internet had proved invaluable in enabling such complex 

research to occur so quickly, years of work compressed into a few accessible files. In the final 

part of my quest I would have needed several lifetimes to accomplish what I had achieved in 
5 short years or quite simply this wondrous discovery would never have happened. 
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Ian, I was browsing through the Internet web site of the 5th Georgia Cavalry and am quite 

impressed with what's been put together. It's the spiritual home of a lost age.  I noticed the 
name of James Pierpont, the chap who wrote "Jingle Bells," 

 

Yep that's true not a lot of snow in Georgia though! 

 
So all of the pertinent information seems to be there, and there is the possibility that more will 

be added. I especially appreciated your tribute to Baillie, along with his picture. 

 

Thanks to you Norman other wise it never would have happened. Oh and I'm going to alter 

it with your suggestions soon. Plus new details from your excellent book! 

 
 But tell me more about your participation in re-enactments. How long have you been doing 

this? 

 

Since I was 11 years old 

 

Is this with other 5th Georgia descendants? 

 

Only if they live in the UK? I related to the cavalry early on and joined the 43rd Virginia 

Cav you can read it in my intro if you like? 

 
 Where do you go and how long do you spend when you come over to the States? Does it give 

you time for travel? I'm wondering if you could include south Texas in your itinerary. 

 

I hope so I want to shake your hand for giving me back the past. I was a bit like an amnesia 

case, partial memory, but no more. I gave up when I started work 22 years ago, life was just 

too hectic. But I have re kindled my interest, because of the picture and the re discovery of 

my roots. So you are to blame so to speak! But it did conclude my search for a meaning to 

life, So I shall be eternally grateful for you putting pen to paper in that article 1988. 

 

 And, oh, what about your horse? Where do the horses come from? 

 

They come and go. I cannot spare the time to look after one personally. At the moment I 

have secured the services of a beautiful blonde 17 hands filly named Claudia. She is 5 years 

old and stabled near Canterbury. I ride in Denge Woods at the top of Stone Street the old 

Roman road. The woods remind me of Georgia/Tennessee, but on a much smaller scale 

 

 Sounds like great fun! 
 

There is nothing to beat the thrill of a Cavalry charge. When I joined the Roundheads in 

1975 I was at the Battle of Brill that summer 3000 re- enactors. We charged a Royalist 

Hedge of pikes. The commander just said, "Stay on and hack at the pikes with your sword, 

the horses know what to do. They've been trained!" 

The horses were just like performing dolphins, they spurred into the gallop and I thought 

"Oh my God we are not going to stop!"  They stopped all right, just before we hit the 

infantry. I nearly went over the neck. The horses were trying to intimidate the foot soldiers. 

I started hacking and looked down at this guy's red cursing face by my boot. He was 

swearing and saying, "Come on then I'll have you!"The horse took his hat in its teeth and 

tossed it in the air! The man's face lost total colour and drained to white. The horse then 

lunged left and grabbed a fellow by the elbow of his jacket, lifted him into the air and shook 

him before throwing him to the floor!!! 

Panic ensued.  With that the hedge of pikes disintegrated like butter before a hot knife and 

they all ran away! Like frightened rabbits. Martin Savage the Colonel looked at me and 

said with a wink, "I told you they've been trained!" :) Being on a horse is like being a god 
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on the battlefield! That's why the cavalry have that crazy elitist attitude that has got them 

into so much trouble throughout history. Always be on a horse-never be in the Infantry 

(Hence the acronym PBI; Poor Bloody infantry!) 

 

 Hope that all goes well during this term. Ours has finally begun. 

Bye for now. Norman 
 

Ours is in full flight we have already had mocks last week and I've applied for a 

lecturing job in Canterbury. Regards Ian 

                     ___________                               ____________ 

Ian Baillie:  : \*\     /*/:  God Bless America  :****** ------: 

                    : \* \   /*/ :                                    : **** -------: 

                   :  \* \ /*/  :     "the land               :****** ------: 

                  :   \ * /    :        of                        : **** -------: 

                 :   /* * \   :      the Free"             :--------------: 

               :  /*/ \*\  :                                  :---------------: 

              : /*/   \*\ :                                 :---------------: 

             """""""                                 """"""""""  

                  Humanities last chance to get it right! 

 

It was at this time that I embarked on producing paintings from memory. I was using my 
feelings and emotions. The aim was to externalise for the benefit of others what I could see in 

my mind. The technique improved quickly and I kept Norman up to date with the latest 

pictures as they happened. I had also pulled out Baillie's records from Princeton and I found a 
tremendous piece of confirmation as to my character. On a photocopy of a scrappy piece of 

paper was this gem of information as to the nature of Baillie's character: 

 

March 19, 2000: 

Hi Norman 

Ian here..........just back from the 12 day "Classe de Neige" in the French Alps. Great time 

had by all. Snow was good, as was the sun...... 

I pulled Baillie's records from Princeton and I was pleasantly surprised to find a copy of 

their 1965 letter to you among the photocopied documents! How thorough!  There was the 

letter from John about Baillie and the railroad, a letter from Blanche regarding his death, 

an obituary from the Princeton newspaper and a marvellous quote, "Suspended for 

throwing fire balls in the entrance of the North College" Oct. 22, 1849! 

This sound amazingly familiar, I have spent most of my life doing similar stunts, but I 

didn't get caught! 

So history repeats......a nice little fragmentary insight into Baillie's and my psyche. 

 

Hope you are all well, we have two weeks to vacation Easter. Harriet has to work until the 

April 12th (Sumter!), but I shall be free to pursue the next adventure! 

 

Best wishes Ian 

                           ____________ 

Dr Ian C. Baillie:    I\* \    /*/I  In memory of; 

                                I \*\  /*/ I  Alexander Baillie Kell 1828 to 1912 

                              I  \* \/*/  I  5th Georgia Vol. Cavalry CSA 

                            I    )* (   I   

                           I  /*/ \* \  I  "Suspended from Princeton for throwing fire 

                         I /*/  \*\ I   balls in the entry of North College" 

                       I/*/    \* \I   October 22, 1849! 

                      """""""     

                                  Now does that sound familiar??? 
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Hello, Ian, it was good to hear from you after returning from Spring Break. You had a much 

more exciting time than I did, one reason being that my wife and I were both recovering from 

colds and didn't feel in the mood for traveling. We'll try to make up for it in May after Steve is 

back. Right now he's trying to pin down a teaching position in the US, where (hopefully) he 
can finally make some money for a change. We hope that he can find a position not too far 

from Corpus Christi. Hey, Ian, that's great about Baillie and the fireball at Princeton that 

brought about his suspension! They never sent me that information when I enquired about 
him all those years ago. I never did understand why he left Princeton for the Kentucky 

Military Institute. What else did you find out about him from the letters and obituary? Darn 

those folks at Princeton who never sent me the information they had! Isn't it something, 
having a new view of Baillie Kell as prankster! But what exactly was the "prank"? 

Apparently, quite serious if it resulted in his suspension. That's all for now.  

Thanks again for your letter. 

Norman 
 

Dear Norman 

Sorry to hear that the dread bug got you, we had it at school, but I seemed to have avoided 

it this year (fingers crossed!). Hope Steve finds a job back in the good ol' US of A. He is a 

great lad and sure to do well! 

Baillie's records have probably been updated and the filing system is now computerised I 

should imagine. Anyway I can scan the details in and send them if you are interested. 

John's letter is particularly well written in his own hand. Blanche's too plus the form she 

filled in for Princeton records. The other documents are mainly type written circa 1914. 

They obviously loved him and cared....that's all I really wanted to know. 

I knew intuitively immediately what the "prank" was, knowing my pyro tendencies! Having 

access to kerosene (paraffin) or whale oil for lamps the boys would make balls of rag and 

soak them. These could then be set alight at will with matches and hurled (using) either a 

leather glove or as one of my students today exclaimed "tied with string, whirled about the 

head and slingshot!" at the opposing team much like a snowball fight!!! This would have 

been done at night for a much better effect!!! Result, much dodging, singed hair and a lot 

of excitement ........plus a suspension for may be a couple of weeks to cool off!!! 

I once witnessed some of my Rugby friends "Faggot racing!" at a stag night (I was 

best man). They stripped off naked, clenched rolled up newspapers in their buttock 

cheeks set them alight!!! And then proceeded to run around the garden in a circuit 

until only one was left!!! The scientific principle being "the faster you move the 

less likely you are of being burned plus the flames are reduced; a bonus!"Needless 

to say all were completely worse for drink and as I had just driven from Germany 

and arrived near midnight stone cold sober I was not in the mood. However it was 

totally amazing to witness!!! and lasted several minutes..........I hasten to add that in 

English faggot means a bundle of kindling wood or in this case newspaper! Not in 

the American slang sense!!!!! 
 Sort of thing used on Jean d'Arc by the dastardly English; she's one of my favourite ladies. 

I have a thing about strong intellectual French ladies with a bit of spirit! Being a Scientist 

and having a logical mind I learnt Dutch pretty easily 20 years ago at University and when 

I worked at the Gezondheidsdienst voor Dieren (Animal Health Laboratories) in Boxtel, 

Provincie Noord Brabant. 1976. I soon then got to grips with German when I worked for 

the Forces in Germany '84 to '87. I have also studied old English, Anglo-Saxon and 

Icelandic as a hobby, because I like history and the Vikings. But French I was "scared" of! 

I studied 4 years at school reading & writing no trouble, but speaking!!! Tongue-tied, all 

those unpronounced letters. However after 5 years exchanges with Ecole Charles Peguy 

school in Lille and 3 years of Classe de Neige with Ecole Jean d'Arc, Calais my phobia is 

ended!!! Hurrah, so another dragon slayed! 
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Back to the plot my pupils and I plan to re create the fire ball prank as an experiment to see 

if our theory is correct....I'll let you know the result!!! Provided I don't get suspended!!! 

As for Baillie and non-graduation....I feel let down either he didn't make the grade, 

Princeton is pretty high powered and he flunked (John would have been mad at that, 

having funded him) or he was ill and didn't sit the finals. Either way finding an alternative 

venue to complete the degree satisfied honour. The Kentucky Mil Institute nearer home? 

(Virginia  would have been equally as good). I thought that Baillie studied History for his 

degree, but it looks like it was Civil Engineering? He may have switched courses I don't 

know what the final BA was for. But we have always had strong Scottish warrior 

tendencies in our family plus Religion, so a Military Institute sounds fine, especially as 

John was in the Navy. 

 

Well time to go! I will e-mail some more! 

Best wishes Ian--                             

 
Well the answer to the, I never did understand why he left Princeton for the Kentucky Military 

Institute?  was to wait a whole 12 months before a solution could be found. In a pile of 

documents Norman gave me in January 2001, was a letter stating that Princeton simply did 
not offer a degree examination in Civil Engineering until 1878. Baillie therefore had to finish 

off his studies at the Kentucky Military Institute, graduating fifth in his class of eight and 

gaining a BA in 1852. I knew exactly why he graduated only fifth. It was to do with the 
mathematics as I have the same problem. I can do the math given enough time, which is not 

good in an examination situation. I had a similar problem with population dynamics this time 

around! The detail of the curriculum matched exactly my interests in this lifetime, including 

ancient and modern languages. Finally, I did complete the fireball experiment in October 
2000, much to the amazement of my students in the lesson at the time. But it worked perfectly 

the flaming balls of rag made a great whooshing sound as they coursed through the air and as 

I was the teacher in charge I didn't get suspended! I had also got up to my usual habits of 
having a good time, this was to be confirmed in the letters about Baillie that Norman sent 

later on in the year around July. 

Hi Norman Confederate drinking habits! How's things? 

Just got back from Classe de Neige 12 days in the French Alps with our school and Ecole 

Jean d'Arc Calais.  Great time introduced the French teachers to Confederate drinking 

practice when off duty!  You have to wear the cavalry kepi, then give a rebel yell and down 

a shot of Jack Daniels in one, slamming the glass upside down on the table to signify 

finishing. Get it wrong and you have to do it again! The kepi is then passed to the person 

on your left and repeated ad infinitum. After three or so rounds the kepi gets thrown about 

a bit as people try to avoid having to have a drink.......great fun had by all, the French were 

very impressed. I showed 'em Baillie's photo and we had Old Glory and the Stars and Bars 

out on the table too. Each night at the 5eme repas, each member has to introduce a new 

drinking experience! 

We had G and T night, Tequila "slammer" night, Drambuie night. The French had Kir 

royal night (Champagne and cassis, Super Champagne night (Champagne and Cointreau) 

Calvados Moonshine night. 

Good time had by all! 

When I came back I had a nice letter from Princeton with Baillie's records. Turns out he 

did three years 1848 to 1851 and was suspended for "throwing fireballs in entry of North 

college" Oct 22, 1849! Sounds horribly familiar as I was known for doing very similar 

things at 

University with my home grown firecrackers! 

So History repeats. Baillie then went to the Kentucky Military institute where he gained his 

BA in 1852. I didn't get caught and I graduated straight........So an improvement I think!? 
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Baillie would have loved the bangs and smells of combat and despite the horror of it all 

.........the excitement would have been quite intoxicating. Gunpowder and Horses!!! 

Well better close now. I have some more pictures in the pipeline and will e-mail them when 

ready. 

Best wishes 

Ian (Doc Baillie) 
                          ____________ 

Dr Ian C. Baillie:     I \* \    /*/I  In memory of; 

                                 I  \* \  /*/ I  Alexander Baillie Kell 1828 to 1912 

                                I   \* \/*/  I  5th Georgia Vol. Cavalry CSA 

                               I    )* (    I   

                              I   /*/ \* \  I  "Suspended from Princeton for throwing fire 

                             I /*/   \* \  I   balls in the entry of North College" 

                            I/*/     \* \I   October 22, 1849! 

                           """"""""     

                                  Now does that sound familiar??? 

 

The next e-mail was to identify the nub of the problem Baillie never got married? This was 

the very heart of the mystery and we were about to break through to the answer in dramatic 
style! 

 

March 29,
 
2000: 

Ian, it's GREAT! I LOVE IT! (Baillie would, too!) As for the information about Baillie and the 

fireball throwing, it really helps in humanizing him. I'm glad it turned up. Unfortunately, the 

timing of the incident was bad. That was the year that John was court-martialed and expelled 

from the navy, so he and the rest of the family would not have been amused. John took credit 
for supporting his family at Laurel Grove during that period, so losing his salary for that year 

would have been quite a loss. I don't think that poor Baillie had many opportunities for 

skylarking after that incident, or could I be wrong? 
Norman 

 

Well, it's all part of that being away from the "gals" routine. Really the "old gone a' 

Viking" bit; a chance for the boys to play away! Baillie certainly enjoyed Princeton as 

Blanche wrote after his death. The club life and the intellectualising. He joined Clio 

Society 1848 so it says. Having visited the Princeton web site and got a feel for the place I 

would say that he was in his element! But may be the socialising got in the way of the 

studying??? 

I am really disappointed in him for not graduating, especially after John's sacrifice. It may 

be that he didn't really know that John was funding him. Margery would have kept that 

close to her chest I feel. Perhaps Baillie would have tried harder if he had known.  

(We now know that this was not the case, as mentioned above)  

 

John's court martial was a fine example of highland/Southern spirit. Semmes recognised 

that and ultimately it was that quality that made John the man he was to become. The 

Southern cavalier image, gallant knight, jolly japes making the ladies giggle. That was 

Baillie, that is me! It is an absolute conundrum as to why Baillie in the end never married? 

Did the family cramp his style? The war was boys' own adventure; Robert Louis 

Stevenson/Walter Scott/Alexander Dumas stuff. The reality of losing quite something else. 

Yet Baillie is getting oxen, talking with the Yankee troops at Laurel Grove just weeks after 

the end of the war. Soldiers can relate to soldiers.......So he was not sitting idly by depressed 

by it all. 

His fiancée is probably the key.........she the one he adored, his paramour throws him up as 

useless. Rejected big time he loses the will to hunt down another female............and settle, 

make a life outside the family. Time running out John and Blanche come to the rescue and 

provide a home for him. Uncle Baillie; the kids would have liked him, stories of his 
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adventures with the "Knights in Gray/ Gray cavaliers". Three musketeers all over again! 

One for all and all for one!!! A thrust with a sabre here and a pistol shot there, hurrah for 

the stars and bars and southern rights.........Gone with the wind eat your heart out!  

This would make a really good film!!!!  "The Captain and the Cavalier" a tale of two 

brothers ......wow we might even win an Oscar!!! Dr Norman Delaney Historical 

advisor/consultant!  :) 

Ian 

 

The very next picture entitled Duty calls was the tin opener that opened the can of worms. I 
had worked hard on this picture and I was now closing in on the cause of my trauma. I really 

felt confident that I had captured something special in the past life of Baillie, my remote 

viewing skills were going off the scale. Again all the detail was to be stunningly confirmed by 
actual letters in July later that year. 

 

May 18,
 
2000: 

Hi Norman 

What da'ya think? :) 

This one's called "Duty calls" and shows Alexander Baillie Kell taking leave of his Mother 

and two sisters at Laurel Grove Darien GA.  He refused to pay $100 for a draft substitute as 

his mother wished, and leaving came back saying that he would pay $100 for an over-seer 

to look after the Negroes on the plantation. A typical IB/AB compromise I can never just 

leave an argument and walk out, but always have to return to resolve the situation!!! 

typical me.... 

I think I have got very near to the look of Laurel Grove. 

The basket (empty) shows that Mom really cares and has pack him something in the 

saddlebags.  The flag stands ready to be defended and his Captain (William Brailsford) 

waits adjusting his hat ready for the off. 

It also shows what Baillie aspires to, but never reaches. 

Fighting the Yankees becomes the priority and thoughts of glory and promotion a passing 

fancy. 

I have also remembered the identity of his young lady, blonde Southern bombshell fiancée 

that dumped him after the war! 

She was none other than Sarah (Sallie) Spalding!!! Teenage daughter of Randolph 

Spalding his brother in law's brother. 

The blonde lady in blue is maybe her or maybe a sister the choice is left to the audience!!! 

 

I have a few pictures to paint on that one, which are already in the planning stage! They 

will be cracker's I can promise. Sallie broke his heart and did much more damage than the 

Yankees. She dumped him because he could never keep her to the manner that she was 

accustomed to! The little *****, she was beautiful, intelligent, artistic and the reason 

behind Baillie's hurry to buy Rushlands, become an Officer and win his princess. He fell 

hook line and sinker for her and then she dumped him........ Very much like "the History of 

Mister Polly" by H G Wells.......I related to that with overwhelming empathy as a boy to be 

continued.....Call it pass life therapy or what ever, but I need to settle the account before 

moving on!!!  

Regards Ian 

--                           ____________ 

Dr Ian C. Baillie:       I \* \    /*/I  In memory of; 

                                  I \* \  /*/ I  Alexander Baillie Kell 1828 to 1912 

                                I  \* \/*/  I  5th Georgia Vol. Cavalry CSA 

                              I   )* (   I   

                            I  /*/ \*\  I  "Sarah Sallie Spalding, how could you. 

                          I /*/  \* \ I    I'm such a great guy.......still that's your 

                        I/*/    \*\I     loss now!!!"  

                      """"""""  
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Eureka, we had reached the Holy Grail of my existence; Sarah Elizabeth Sallie Spalding had 

broken my heart all those years ago. This was the real reason I remembered everything, the 

blonde lady, wouldn't you know it? At the base of this profound quest to unlocking the 

secrets of the Universe was an amazingly beautiful women, how original? 

 

Ian, your picture of Baillie's farewell is TERRIFIC! I LOVE IT! And the STORY that it 

tells, and who could tell it better than YOU! Say, now, this is getting better and better. But 

tell me more about Sallie; how were you able to connect her to Baillie? It all seems to fit so 

well. Ian, maybe you should have been a detective; well, actually, you ARE a detective. 

Well done! I'm looking forward to hearing more about Sallie Spalding. Who did she wind 

up marrying? Little snip. Baillie should have found somebody else.  I wonder why he 

didn't. Thanks, Ian! 

Norman 

 

The floodgates were now open and out poured the terrible secret and whole story in a 

cataclysmic week of body shaking trauma wracked emotion. The answers to Norman's 
questions were about to be graphically and profoundly displayed in Technicolor detail. 

Hastily I went into the attic and dusted off my old art folders from the 70's. There in graphic 

detail was displayed the whole story of Sallie and Baillie in every detail. I was absolutely 
stunned at the comprehensive data logged all those years ago, without knowing the sub-

conscious made manifest. Rosie was the witness as I took my art works from the 70's to 

school on the Monday morning. At lunchtime I displayed and related the whole story to her in 
the Physics laboratory, her reaction to the event was so emotional that I had to share it with 

Norman. This was something special, very special and it was unfolding before my eyes. 

 

May 22, 2000: 
 

Here is Rosie's impression of today:   

I'm just so overwhelmed by this - I'm in a state of overload- it's going to take a while for all of 
this to sink in. We have unlocked a door to the last 20 years of your life!!!!!!!!! So far you 

have written two chapters about your war memories - years 11-23? But now the story of 

Sallie and Baillie is so much more powerful, tragic and emotional. This is your story from 21 

to present day. This is colossal Ian. I'm absolutely blown away. Thank you so much for asking 
me to be with you today. I'm truly humbled - to witness all these images that have held you 

their grip for your lifetime. I've witnessed your 'awakening' to your mems!!!!!! What an 

honour. I keep thinking of the word KEY. Unlocking the subconscious that is so powerfully 
revealed in your pictures. They have been there. I can see links. The roots of the 'pain tree' 

beg you to delve deeper, shout out of a pain that tore your/ Baillie's soul apart. The haunting 

haunted figure looking out to sea, to Sapelo, to the lonely tower. But the saddest picture is 
seeing the fierce warrior standing between you and your dream, a powerful black force, black 

knight standing between you and the girl of your dreams. 

 

There is so much here I will let these thoughts have time-I'll write them as they come to me. 
Clannad's song keeps drifting in and out of my mind. The posters show you really know where 

my evolution is taking me.  Thanks to your help 

'In Lake 'ch' 
Rosie 

 

Norman was quick to join in with the revelation that Baillie worshipped Sarah Elizabeth 
Spalding; Sallie. All was now so clear and the connections throughout my life just kept on 

coming. 

 

Well done, Ian, now all we need is a picture (or painting) of Sallie to make her even more 
real. 
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Considering her family's wealth, there's bound to be a painting, and most certainly 

photographs. Whom did she marry? 
What was her life like post-Baillie? Children? Correspondence? I wonder if she and her 

family are mentioned in CHILDREN OF PRIDE (Myers?) that huge collection of Jones 

family correspondence (Georgia Coast, contemporaries of Kells). I'll certainly want to check 

it out. Ian, you have certainly taken Baillie's life out of the shadows! 
Norman 

 

The picture expanded into glorious life, a bygone age of chivalry and decadence, ante-bellum 
America in its splendour, yet paid for by the nightmare of slavery. It was at the same time so 

ironic that the system was propped up by an institution, diametrically opposed to the sacred 

ideals of freedom that Scottish folk hold so dear. Yet we were accessing the truth not some 
comfortable fantasy of fabrication. We had to take the information at face value no matter 

how ugly and painful that may be. 

 

I am going to scan some of the pictures in and photograph the big ones. 

I have written a short article on the decoding of the imagery which will give any 

psychoanalyst (joke!) a field day........It's all there the whole story!  

This would never have come about with out your input.......I have re-lived the whole thing 

several times in my own life. I would still be doing this now, but I/we have broken the cycle. 

I can move on..... 

Thank you Norman!  

 

Together we had broken the spell of Sapelo Sallie, and I was now free at last from the 

haunting of this sub-conscious obsession that had survived physical mortality. The spectre 

had vanished when exposed to the daylight of conscious reality. 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 



 51 

 

Chapter Three 

Letters 

s the story unfolded the synchronicity of events accelerated, Norman was able to 

provide a unique insight into the character and personality of Baillie, with an overlay 
of historical events and background. He had retrieved the stored letters and 

documents from his attic, placed there 30 years ago and miraculously saved despite not 

knowing that one-day they might come in useful. That day had arrived and with it I unlocked 

the door to my past. As I read and re-read each new piece of detailed information one word 
kept echoing in my mind; same, same, it's all the same! 

 

All of the information described me perfectly in vivid mind shattering detail. This was 

confirmation indeed that Baillie and I are one and the same person in mind and spirit if not 

physical body. It was as if the matrix was willing us on. Precisely the right piece of 
information would arrive at precisely the right time to spur us on to a new discovery. Our 

minds were working in synchronous harmony on an entirely different plane. Explainable as 

all things are connected in the matrix and thought is faster than light. Right on cue and 
without prompting in July 2000 Norman fired a burst of data from the records, which 

confirmed all of my paintings from memory and findings. Baillie was revealed from archival 

documentation and excitingly the 5 most important letters he had penned himself. Oh my 
goodness, he had written himself and they still survived! I was ecstatic at the thought of 

possibly seeing my own writing from 140 years ago. As I read and re-read the evidence I was 

determined to extract copies of the real letters from the Kell papers collection, Duke 

University, Durham, North Carolina. 
 

In August I penned my own copies to compare the handwriting and signatures for when they 

would arrive. Yet another experiment was in the making. I knew that I probably even wrote as 
Baillie, for I had deliberately changed my style from cursive script to a more upright stance 

when approximately 15 years of age in imitation of my mother; a deliberate conscious act. I 

guessed that my original style would be the closest to Baillie's own writing. I was not to be 

disappointed, in October I examined and compared the originals and I did in fact write the 
same, the only exception being the letter r which Baillie wrote the old fashioned way and I 

the modern. The most noticeable factor was that I wrote most like him when in a hurry and 

quickly. This was to be expected from my findings, as this is the state when the sub-conscious 
has the most control and can flow freely, exactly as with the paintings. Even my signature 

was a modern version using the same strokes, constructed in a similar fashion, again the 

elaborate B began its construction differently, but was completed the same as my own. I 
instantly could replicate the signature perfectly. I understood intuitively its construction from 

first principles. The hand movements where entirely natural for me and the aillie part of the 

signature was identical to mine, as were the underlining emphasis with strokes at either end. 

The action was the same.  
 

I have replicated Norman's e-mail copies of the letters, as they contain the essential relevant 

information. A full text version of the important letters and documents can be read in the 
appendices. Many family letters include only a line or two in reference to Baillie and although 

I have them in my possession for handwriting analysis and interest, I have omitted them from 

the records at the end of the book. 

 

Ian, those are really great pictures! Looks like you're having a lot of fun! 

I'll continue with more of the information I've turned up. First; 

A letter written by Baillie to Blanche, dated June 21 (1864). He gives his address as Troop 

H, 5th Georgia Cavalry, Wheeler's Corps, Army of East Tennessee, Atlanta, Georgia: 

A 
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"I write you a few lines more to inform you that our cavalry had a severe fight with 

the enemy two days ago, about two thousand strong on each side, but our squadron 

was not engaged in it. The loss in the two squadrons engaged was 4 killed and 25 

wounded, in the other cavalry there was only two killed and I don't know how many 

wounded. The Yanks were finally driven back with great slaughter. (He encloses a few 

dollars for Blanche to buy him a pencil.) I suppose Nath's regiment is on the left 

(Nath was Blanche's younger brother) as all the forces are being concentrated there 

and towards the centre, as Johnston is doing his best to bring on a general 

engagement.  
Gen. Lee has telegraphed Gen. Johnson (sic) that he has given Grant the most complete 

whipping of any General that has been in command of that army and our army here has all 

confidence in Johnston and the opinion is that he will serve Sherman as he did McClellan 
before Richmond, having retreated over a hundred miles and had it not been for Magruder 

and Huger, the whole Yankee army would have been compelled to surrender." 

 

I'm not doing this in order. The next Baillie letter I'll send is dated August 14, 1862. 

Will follow later. 
 

Brilliant.........it's got the feel of correctness! :)I never knew Baillie had written! He 

obviously thought a lot of Blanche! 

Ian 

 

The possibility of performing another experiment loomed: 

 

Norman, 

It occurred to me that you might have copies of Baillie's handwriting I would dearly love to 

analyse the script would it be possible to photocopy or scan copies of the documents to me  

I will be more than glad to cover any cost involved. The originals are now worth loads of 

dollars. I saw one of John's letters on the internet for $3000 !!!! 

How incredible! Yet I would pay it for Baillie's if I had the money and the originals were 

available.......... 

I am on holiday now and going over to Granpa's by the sea at Herne Bay, North Kent time 

to get the boat out, weather's been very cloudy though. 

Harriet presented the flowers at Canterbury Cathedral in front of her whole school at the 

Commemoration Service Friday............a proud moment for the Baillie's....timeless too 

amongst all that history. 

I thought of Steven's visit at Christmas, please give him my regards. 

Becket and the Norman King's looked down on humble Baillie, but in the end we are all 

equal in the sight of God 

Regards Ian 

 
The next piece was a little puzzling to Norman, but not to me. Whilst working on the railway 

one day in 1974, I found that I could make some easy money by carrying peoples bags. So I 

set to with enthusiasm and rapidly accumulated over £3.00 sterling for very little effort and a 
lot of politeness. 

 

Oh, one other thing to add from a letter of Margery to Blanche, February 24, 1863, from the 
Retreat. This piece really surprised me: 

 

"Baillie in camp and makes some money for himself waiting on other Gentlemen." 

 
That strikes me as VERY strange! 

Ian, here's some more great Baillie stuff, this next a letter written by Baillie to Blanche from 
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"Camp Davant, dated August 12, 1863. I copied verbatim most of it. 

     "I received your answer to my note today and thank you kindly for giving me the 

desired information about the strings so promptly. Please get me three treble E and 

one B, which is the next largest and of the violin strings, you may get two of the first 

and one of the last, which is the A on the violin. (He has enclosed $10 for Blanche to 

buy the violin strings.) Gen. Evans of South Carolina has arrived with his brigade 

from Mississippi and they are now encamped on the island, but the General's 

headquarters are in Sav. and as he outranks Gen. Mercer, he will be in command of 

the department and Gen. M will take the field. (He mentions having attended Christ 

Church and also having dined with the Bishop.) There has been a great deal of 

sickness from typhoid fever and a number of deaths, but I have never been in better 

health. Our tents are moved out now, entirely clear of the stables, which I think will 

cause an improvement in the health of the regiment. In going to Cos. Charles's you 

get off at Quitman about half past six in the evening, where you take supper, but 

Valdosta, ten miles this side is the regular supper house. At Quitman you get in a 

four-horse coach after supper and you arrive at Retreat about 11 o'clock, right upon 

the road, 11 miles, from Quitman. Tell Munroe that Roanoke is at Rushland and he is 

so old that I have given him his freedom. I shall have to go on picket to Sav. in a very 

short time." 
(NOTE: Quitman is on the Savannah Albany & Gulf RR, 26 miles from Thomasville in Brooks 

Co., Ga.; fare from Macon to Savannah is $10; fare from Savannah to Quitman is also $10; 

leaves Sav. at 6 a.m., arrives in Quitman at 6 p.m., Retreat is 10 miles further.) 
 

Baillie had played the violin and the guitar!  I had taught myself to play the guitar from the 

age of 11 and I had carried it everywhere with me through out my travels. Interestingly Baillie 

is requesting three top strings, which keep breaking. With modern day metal wound on nylon 
strings it is the D that keeps breaking, I had bought endless D strings. I checked with a picture 

of an actual Civil War guitar and sure enough the picture showed the top string to be missing. 

It all checked out. 
My sister had put me off of playing the violin, because of her incessant scraping and poor 

forming of notes. She learnt piano and later took up the guitar much to the relief of all 

concerned. The tune Turkey in the straw had been going around in my head since I was a boy, 
I would often find myself whistling or humming it. I instantly recognised that this was the 

source of the tune, Baillie had played it on the fiddle in camp with the boys of the 5
th
, or as we 

were to find out later, on the Sully farm in 1870 when he had met Mary Sullivan.  

Another thing that I noticed was the familiarity with giving direction in the latter part 

of the letter was also typical me. I have a good sense of direction and a grasp of travel. 

The directions were clear, concise and accurate. The generosity of spirit and 

compassion towards the faithful Roanoke, an aged servant, was also exactly in 

accordance with my nature and humanity. 

 

Next letter from Baillie to Blanche: from Camp Davant is dated August 24, 1863: 

 

(He has received the violin strings.) "I suppose it must be an undoubted fact that brother is in 

command of her (CSS ALABAMA) now. I do not feel at all uneasy, or never will about him, 

especially since the Vanderbilt has been destroyed. (Hopes to get a 5-day furlough so he can 
visit Blanche.) I shall see the Col as he knows me now so well and he is so friendly to me; but 

there are some men in our company who have not got a furlough for twelve months, and no 

furloughs are given now at all. I will let you know after sounding Mars' Bob (the Col). He 
told the Capt. that he was trying to get me an appointment, from the Sec. of War, in his 

regiment. I shall carry in my diploma that I received at the Ky Mil. Institute, and tell him to 
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make every use of it that is in his power for my promotion. How nobly has the garrison of 

Fort Sumpter behaved. 
(Here I go again: Poor Baillie! That promotion would have meant so much to him! more 

follows) 

 

The promotion, this was the key, I realised in a flash that I had re-enacted this when I 

was 15 years of age! I even had the photographs to prove it, how utterly amazing. The 

matrix was providing exact confirmation to match events documented on film in my 

early life. This was certainly also the reason behind my seeking a Queen's 

Commission in the army this time around. In the end I settled on a Captain's rank and 

3 years in Germany with British Forces as a Physics teacher. It was all there, the 

same, absolutely the same! I was reliving my past in this present physical lifetime, yet 

totally unaware of what I was doing. Then it hit me this confirmed my assumption 

that the promotion would have meant he could have married Sallie! He would have 

obtained the correct social rank to marry his young lady. It all fitted Sallie was the 

reason for everything, the prime motive in everything he/I did. I had at last found the 

fountain of motive from whence all events flowed. The emotional euphoria of 

discovery was so intense it had to be true. 

 

Then Norman posted the all important promotion letter. I knew then for certain that Colonel 
Robert H Anderson had after all recommended Baillie to become an Officer, here was the 

definitive proof. This was pure gold dust, beyond all possible value; absolute vindication and 

I had the photographs to prove it. Undeniable evidence that memory is transferred between 
physical beings. The matrix had come up trumps again and this was the big one: 

 

Head Qrs 5th Regt Ga Cavalry 

Savannah, Ga. August 30, 1863 

 

General S. Cooper 

Adjt & Inspector General C.S.A. 

Richmond, Virginia 

 

General 
 

I have the honor very respectfully to request and to recommend that Private Alexander Kell of 
H Troop of my Regiment be appointed a Second Lieutenant of Cavalry in the Provisional 

Army of the Confederate States, and assigned to duty with my Regiment as a Drill Master. 

Private Kell has been in the ranks performing his duty in a faithful and soldierly manner ever 
since the commencement of the war. He is a high toned gentleman, and has received a 

military education, being a graduate of the Kentucky Military Institute, and one in every 

respect worthy of and deserving a commission. 
 

Respectfully requesting the favorable and earliest convenient action of the War Department 

in this matter. 

R. H. Anderson 
Col 5th Regular Ga Cavalry 

 

comment added: 
Res. subj. to the Sec. of War 

The services of a Drill Master should not be required at this advanced period of the war. The 

regiment has its full 

complement of officers. 
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By order 

Ed. A. Palfrey 
Lt. Col & Adj. 

9 Sept. 63  

 

So it was all so very clear, Baillie had been a 3
rd
 Lieutenant in the Militia and then had 

enlisted as a private hoping to gain promotion in the field. He had been an exemplary soldier 

as the recommendation for Drill Master shows. But who would want another additional 

Officer at this late stage in the war? Gettysburg had just been lost and Vicksburg had fallen, 
the idea of a Drill Master was patently absurd. If the Colonel had put something more relevant 

Baillie would probably have got his commission and he might have married Sallie and I 

should not have had the deep emotional scars that caused me to remember. In fact I doubt 
whether I would have remembered it at all, for it seems to be that it is only with extreme 

emotional circumstance that people remember their past lives. Many cases show this to be 

true and usually once the person is aware of the past emotional or physical trauma they begin 

to rest easy and continue with their present life. I was sure that I could now rest easy for the 
rest of my life. We had discovered my dark secret and I knew that I had made every attempt 

sub-consciously to make right the story this time around and I had succeeded with out 

knowing. The emotional relief was so profound and deep that I knew I was at last completely 
healed. Tears filled my eyes for weeks; they still do at the thought of all that has transpired. 

Poor Baillie, one twist of the cards and fate condemned him to a life of bitter loneliness and 

unfulfilled ambition. The matrix can be a cruel mistress, but we learn from it, boy do we 
learn! 

 

Ian, here's a little gem from a letter to Blanche from Hetty, dated Rushlands, July 12, 1862. 

Most of it concerns war and family news, but this piece will interest you.  

 

"Baillie brought over four of his companions in arms night before last, and gave us a 

treat in the way of music, they sang charmingly (underlined) together, and one plays 

finely on the piano, they staid (sic) until half past eleven singing and playing and then 

rode back eight miles to camp--it was amusing to see them how they demolished their 

supper. Baillie gave us notice the day before so we were prepared for them." 
 

Wow! This fitted like a glove; I had spent all my youth doing the same things; a good 

meal, good company and a good singsong. Yes, this was me all right, no doubt about 

it.  

Ian, I'm going to try and finish these Baillie related letters this week. They are certainly 
giving both of us an even better understanding of the man. 

Here are excerpts from a letter to Blanche from Hetty, "Rushlands," June 12 (1862?) 

 

"I am going to ask you to send me the money you have in keeping for me. I begged 

Baillie to give me his $50 bounty money to keep for him and that with some of mine 

and what you will send me makes $100 which I will send Mr. Gue to put out for us in 

the shape of a Confederate bond.. . . .I have persuaded Baillie to give me all he can 

spare to keep for him, for he is so regardless of money. . . .Please take from my money 

enough to get me two pieces of music. I saw the names last night when Baillie and I 

were singing--My Maryland, Beauregard's March or Quickstep at the Battle of 

Mannasses(sic). I forget which, and Baillie has carried the music to camp this 

morning so I cannot refer to it . . . . then I want Marsellaise, by Herz or Beyer 

whichever you think best." 
 

This hit a home run again, I have always been unconcerned about money, not wasteful, but I 

have always regarded money as a vulgar subject and one that we simply do not talk about in 




